

Commission de la santé mentale du Canada

# Mental Health and Suicide Prevention in Men Evidence Brief

Ce document est disponible en français

#### Citation information

Suggested citation: Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2022). Mental health and suicide prevention in men [Evidence brief]. <u>https://mentalhealthcommission.ca/</u>

© 2022 Mental Health Commission of Canada

The views represented herein solely represent the views of the Mental Health Commission of Canada.

ISBN: 978-1-77318-284-1

Legal deposit National Library of Canada



The views represented herein solely represent the views of the Mental Health Commission of Canada. Production of this material is made possible through a financial contribution from Health Canada.

### Acknowledgments

The head office of the Mental Health Commission of Canada (MHCC) is located on the unceded, traditional territory of the Algonquin Anishinaabe Nation, in what is now called Ottawa, Ontario. We acknowledge that, for thousands of years, the Algonquin people protected these lands, the Ottawa River watershed, and its tributaries. As a national organization, we also acknowledge that we work on the traditional lands of many different nations. Today, a path to truth and reconciliation begins with recognizing both the stewardship and the sacrifices of the original peoples. We are committed to recognizing the errors of the past, acknowledging the challenges of the present, and contributing to a new and equitable relationship with the First Peoples.

This evidence brief was authored by Meagan Barrett-Bernstein, Natalia Uribe, and Hailley White. Additional research, support, and reviews were provided by Lisa Cowley, Nitika Rewari, Ryan Murphy, Samuel Breau, Brandon Hey, Kati Oliver, Abela Ouedraogo, and William Wahl at the MHCC.

We would like to acknowledge and thank the many others who provided important and valued feedback and contributions to this brief by reviewing it and sharing relevant literature and information with us:

### Youth Council and Hallway Group, MHCC

- Connor Lafortune, Thunderbird Partnership Foundation, Cannabis and Psychosis Canada, MHCC Youth Council member
- Dr. Austin Mardon, Department of Psychiatry and John Dossetor Health Ethics Centre, University of Alberta, MHCC Hallway Group Member
- Garrett Molner, MHCC Youth Council member
- Manish Toofany, MHCC Youth Council member

### **Expert Reviewers**

- Dr. Mary Bartram, MHCC
- Dr. John Oliffe, Professor and Tier 1 Canada Research Chair in Men's Health Promotion, School of Nursing, University of British Columbia
- Robert Olson, Centre for Suicide Prevention
- Dr. Zac Seidler, Movember Foundation

# Contents

| Purpose   | 1  |
|---|----|
| Method  | 1  |
| Key Findings  | 1  |
| Background  | 3  |
| Men's mental health and suicide                           | 4  |
| Men in Canada   | 4  |
| Contributing factors                                      | 4  |
| Male-type depression, symptom recognition, and assessment |    |
| Rigid alignment with traditional masculine norms          | 5  |
| Stigma (and self-stigma)                                  | 6  |
| Mental health literacy                                    | 6  |
| Help seeking  | 7  |
| Use of more lethal means                                  |    |
| Risk factors  | 8  |
| Substance use   |    |
| Social isolation, loneliness, and loss of connectedness   | 9  |
| Depression  |    |
| Sociodemographic factors                                  |    |
| History of attempted suicide                              |    |
| Negative life events and intimate partner violence        |    |
| Subgroups among men who are at higher risk for suicide    | 13 |
| First Nations, Inuit, and Métis men                       |    |
| Sexual and gender minorities                              |    |
| Occupation groups   |    |
| Immigrants and refugees                                   |    |
| Racialized groups   |    |
| The importance of intersectionality                       |    |
| How has COVID-19 impacted men?                            |    |
| Vulnerability to COVID-19                                 |    |
| Mental health decline and psychological distress          |    |

| Job loss and financial insecurity                                  | 16 |
|--|----|
| Problematic alcohol and substance use                              |    |
| Social isolation, loneliness, and relationship breakdown           |    |
| Help seeking   |    |
| Subgroups living in marginalized conditions                        |    |
| Men's suicide prevention practices                                 | 19 |
| Best practices   | 19 |
| Mental health literacy for men                                     |    |
| Gatekeeper training  |    |
| Awareness campaigns  |    |
| Means safety   |    |
| Safety plans and ongoing crisis support                            |    |
| Promising practices  | 21 |
| Reframing "masculinity" to encourage help seeking                  |    |
| Program evaluation and intersectionality                           |    |
| Increased awareness and detection of male-type depression symptoms |    |
| Suicide risk assessment tailored to men                            |    |
| Enhancing physician-patient relationships                          |    |
| Implementing suicide prevention approaches in informal settings    |    |
| Online resources and supports                                      |    |
| Group-based supports   |    |
| Building better personal relationships                             |    |
| Conclusion   | 24 |
| References   | 26 |

# Purpose

This brief offers an overview of emerging research on men's mental health with a particular focus on suicide and its prevention in the Canadian context. It provides statistics on men's mental health and suicidal behaviours, factors that contribute to their increased risk of suicide and suicide deaths, subgroups who are at higher risk of suicide, and the potential and observed impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on men's mental health and suicide. The brief also highlights best and promising suicide prevention practices. It is intended for individuals and organizations working in the health, mental health, and suicide prevention sectors and those developing or delivering supports and resources to men.

# Method

This review of emerging Canadian and international academic and grey literature on mental health and suicide in men (with a focus on 2016–21) concentrated on research relating to suicide and effective suicide prevention strategies. Two significant limitations in the reviewed literature include (1) a focus on sex differences rather than gender<sup>\*</sup> differences (along with the interchangeable use of these terms), and (2) a lack of sufficient information to determine how sex and gender were operationalized and measured. As a result, this brief uses the term "men" throughout. Where available, additional information is provided on participants' gender identity.

The brief was reviewed by several experts in mental health and suicide prevention and by people with lived and living experience. To amplify these voices of experience, quotes from the literature are included throughout.

# **Key Findings**

- 1. Men continue to account for the majority of suicide deaths, both in Canada and internationally. Several notable factors may be contributing to these high rates of suicide:
  - Clear links between adherence to traditionally masculine norms (i.e., strength, stoicism, self-reliance) and reduced mental health literacy, help seeking, and the use of mental health services. Understanding gender biases (held by men and health-care providers) and positively reframing "masculinities" in the plural contexts of mental health are critical for increasing men's help seeking and effectively tailoring the provision of men's mental health services.
  - The growing body of literature about the existence of a male-type depression, characterized by externalizing symptoms such as irritability, anger, and substance use. To increase the detection and treatment of depression among men, externalizing symptoms

<sup>\*</sup> This paper accepts the following distinctions between sex and gender: "Sex: A person's biological status as male, female, or intersex... There are a number of indicators of biological sex, including sex chromosomes, hormones, internal reproductive organs, and external genitalia" versus "Gender: The culturally defined roles, responsibilities, attributes, and entitlements associated with being male or female in a given setting, along with the power relations between and among women and men, and boys and girls" (p. 2375). See Darmstadt, G. L., et al. (2019). Why now for a series on gender equity, norms, and health? [Commentary]. *Lancet*, 393(10189), 2374-2377. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30985-7

should be measured alongside typical symptoms and incorporated into the screening tools used for its detection.

- Evidence that substance use, social isolation or loneliness, and depression are among the strongest risk factors for suicidal behaviour in men. Given the strength of these risk factors, prevention efforts should focus on addressing depression and problematic substance use and on targeting and supporting men who are isolated or may be experiencing loneliness (e.g., after being recently separated or divorced).
- 2. Specific subgroups who identify as men in Canada are at significantly increased risk for suicide (particularly young men). Most notably, the rates of attempted suicide for First Nations, Inuit, and Métis who identify as sexual and/or gender minority men (i.e., gay, bisexual, men who sleep with other men, transmen) are up to 10 times as high as for men in this group who are non-Indigenous. High rates of suicidal behaviours among this subgroup are due in part to unique risk factors related to historical and colonial violence, stigma, discrimination, and the erasure of family structures. Understanding these risk factors as mental health inequities that restrict access to mental health services might encourage the development of suicide prevention initiatives that are tailored to the unique needs and experiences of these subgroups.
- 3. The COVID-19 pandemic has amplified well-established risk factors for suicide in men, with specific subgroups reporting higher levels of alcohol and cannabis use, depression, self-harm, and suicidal thoughts. Suicide prevention efforts during and after the pandemic should focus on addressing its effect on job loss, financial insecurity, social isolation, and substance use as well as on the barriers to help seeking and accessing social and mental health supports.
- 4. Though risk factors around men's suicide have been widely researched, prevention approaches remain broad and tailored to men at large, which creates critical gaps in understanding and serving the needs of diverse men. Intersectional and sex- and gender-based plus analyses are required to better understand suicide and suicide risk among men and to guide the development of tailored interventions that respond to and address the unique needs of diverse subgroups, many of which live in marginalizing conditions:
  - To understand the diverse needs of sexual and gender minority groups, it is crucial that research in the field (including formal program evaluation) move beyond the sex binary when collecting, analyzing, and reporting on data and to continue exploring how the intersections between gender, race, and systems of power and oppression impact mental health and suicide.
  - Acknowledging the multiple and diverse identities that exist across the population of men in Canada, interventions should be tailored to geographical and cultural contexts.
  - For suicide prevention programs to be effective and reach those who need them, it is imperative to understand and address the social determinants of health and how they influence mental health literacy, help seeking, and ultimately, access to services.

# Background

Of the estimated 4,000 suicide deaths in Canada each year, 75 per cent are men.<sup>1</sup> Suicide is the country's second leading cause of death for men aged 15-39 (after accidental death).<sup>2,3</sup> Research into sex differences in suicidal behaviour has revealed a gender paradox, wherein men are more likely to die by suicide, and women are more like to attempt it.<sup>4-6</sup> Between 1981 and 2017, men consistently had higher mortality rates due to suicide compared to women.<sup>7</sup> During this time, the average "male-to-female ratio" of suicide deaths was 3.4:1, meaning that men died by suicide on average 3.4 times as often as women. These disproportionately high rates have not only been observed across time, but also across the lifespan, where men's rates of suicide are consistently higher than women at all ages.<sup>8</sup>

Rarely is there one "reason" to explain why someone has died by suicide. On the contrary, suicidal behaviour is influenced by a combination of factors — including biological, clinical, environmental, psychological, and socio-cultural — spanning the life course. The factors contributing to and protecting against suicide risk are also fluid and vary across individuals and subgroups, ages, life stages, and circumstances.<sup>9,10</sup> That said, men share several notable factors that increase their risk for suicide.<sup>11</sup> Thus, understanding why men die by suicide at such high rates, and who among them is most at risk, is crucial to developing and implementing effective suicide prevention strategies for this population.

In addition to summarizing the evidence on factors that lead to increased risk of suicide and suicide deaths among men, subgroups that are at higher risk, and the potential and observed impact of COVID-19 on men as it relates to mental health and suicide, this brief will highlight best and promising suicide prevention practices.

# Men's mental health and suicide Men in Canada

Canada is located on the traditional, ancestral, and largely unceded territory of Inuit, Métis, and First Nations people. It is home to just over 38 million inhabitants from diverse cultural and ethnic backgrounds.<sup>12,13</sup> Estimates from 2016 census data indicate that men make up almost half the population (most are aged 25-64), with racialized groups making up nearly a quarter of it.<sup>14</sup> In the same census data, more than 1.67 million people self-identified as Indigenous, of which 813,520 said they were men.<sup>15</sup> Recent estimates from Statistics Canada show that about four per cent of the total population identifies as 2SLGBTQ+, with one quarter identifying as gay and 75,000 (15 and older) as either transgender or non-binary.<sup>16</sup> Due to fear and/or apprehension in self-identifying, this data may underestimate the true number of Indigenous and 2SLGBTQ+ people in Canada and the overall diversity of these populations.

Unfortunately, Canada's incredible diversity is not always captured in the literature on mental health and suicide in men. We therefore acknowledge the limitations of the literature this brief includes in terms of representing the diverse experiences and expressions of men in Canada and considerations of sex and gender identity. The MHCC recognizes this diversity and believes that to improve suicide prevention and life promotion practices for men it is essential to explore and better understand the relationships between gender identity and suicide beyond binary sex statistics.

As Standish (2020) stated in an article anticipating suicide and gender after COVID-19:

The adoption of binary sex stats to collate incidences of suicide, when they are identified at all, means erasing valuable aspects of both identity and potential interventions. Suicides are attempted and experienced by non-binary, LGTBQI2 and Indigenous persons, particularly youth, at higher rates than cis-gendered Western suicides amplifying the importance of understanding gender in understanding suicide. (p. 114)<sup>17</sup>

### Contributing factors

The literature points to several factors that contribute to high rates of suicide deaths among men. The following list was compiled from quantitative and qualitative research<sup>†</sup> on suicide, both in Canada and internationally.

### Male-type depression, symptom recognition, and assessment

Research in mental health suggests that men may have different experiences of depression than what is considered "typical" (i.e., according to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* [DSM-5]). There is a growing body of evidence supporting the existence of a "male-type" depression, which is characterized by externalizing symptoms,<sup>‡</sup> including irritability, anger, substance use, risk taking, and impulsivity.<sup>18</sup> These symptoms are not outlined in the DSM-5 criteria

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Quantitative research is expressed in numbers and graphs and is used to test or confirm theories and assumptions, whereas qualitative research is expressed in words and is used to understand concepts, thoughts, and experiences. See, for example, Streefkerk. R. (2022). Qualitative vs. quantitative research: Differences, examples, and methods. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/qualitative-quantitative-research/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> Externalizing symptoms of depression include escapist behaviour; physical symptoms; alcohol and drug use; controlling, violent, or abusive behaviour; irritability and/or anger; risky behaviours; and impulsivity.

for depression,<sup>§</sup> which largely measures prototypic or internalizing symptoms like depressed mood, fatigue and loss of energy, and loss of interest or pleasure.<sup>19</sup> Meta-analytic research indicates that many men who experience depression report externalizing symptoms.<sup>20,21</sup> Zajac and colleagues (2020), from a sample of 1,000 adult men in Canada, found that, of the 31 per cent demonstrating depressive symptoms (prototypic and externalizing), almost 75 per cent reported externalizing symptoms only or else a mix of externalizing and prototypic symptoms. They also found that men who reported externalizing symptoms were at significantly increased risk of mental health problems and current suicide risk, compared to those reporting prototypic symptoms only.<sup>22</sup> Other evidence suggests that men's conformity and adherence to traditional masculine norms (e.g., stoicism, self-reliance, strength) may impact their experience and expression of depression. Seidler and colleagues (2016) reported that the social conditioning of men to avoid emotion-based communication leaves them with a limited emotional vocabulary to describe their experiences. Men's feelings of shame and weakness or fears of being othered and marginalized (which are associated with depression) were also thought to be capable of worsening the severity of depressive symptoms while making men less likely to seek help.<sup>23</sup>

Several screening tools used to detect depression (e.g., the Patient Health Questionnaire [PHQ-9]) are based on the prototypic depressive symptoms outlined in DSM-5 and do not include the externalizing symptoms many men are thought to exhibit.<sup>24- 26</sup> Various researchers have proposed that conventional screening and diagnostic tools that do not measure male-type symptoms may be contributing to the underdetection and undertreatment of depressive symptoms in men.<sup>27- 30</sup> In an influential study, Martin and colleagues (2013) found that sex differences in depression rates disappeared when symptoms of male-type depression were measured alongside the prototypic depressive symptoms.<sup>31</sup> When both prototypic and male-type symptoms were measured, men and women met the criteria for depression at similar rates: 30.6 and 33.3 per cent, respectively.<sup>32</sup> Considering the heightened risk for suicide that externalizing symptoms (e.g., substance use, risk taking) pose, detecting male-type depression symptoms is essential for suicide prevention among men.

### Rigid alignment with traditional masculine norms

Research has linked masculinity and its conceptualizations to depression and suicide among men. "Traditional" masculine norms represent the "accepted ideal" of masculinity, including stoicism, self-reliance, strength, toughness, success, control, and competitiveness. These norms, which are thought to "stem from dominant models of male socialisation in the Western World (Pleck, 1995)" (p. 107),<sup>33</sup> serve to perpetuate inequalities both within and between genders.<sup>34</sup>

Research shows that adherence to and deviation from these masculine norms can lead to negative consequences.<sup>35-40</sup> While deviation has been shown to have negative results (e.g., social and economic penalties) among some men (including being perceived as weak, less likeable, less hirable), adherence can also have a profoundly negative impact on mental health behaviours and outcomes.<sup>41-</sup>

<sup>47</sup> Studies examining the impact of masculinities on mental health and suicide highlight a range of negative outcomes among men who rigidly adhere to traditional masculine norms. Garfield and colleagues (2008) reported that anxiety, depression, psychological stress, and maladaptive coping patterns were pervasive among men who held more traditional beliefs about masculinity and gender roles.<sup>48</sup> Men who adhere to such norms were also more likely to exhibit externalizing symptoms of depression (e.g., substance use, risk taking, impulsivity), have lower mental health literacy (MHL),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>§</sup> DSM-5 criteria for depression (i.e., prototypic symptoms) are as follows: depressed mood, diminished interest/pleasure, significant weight loss and/or changes to appetite, slowing down of thought or movement, fatigue/loss of energy, feelings of worthlessness/excessive guilt, diminished ability to think/concentrate, recurrent thoughts of death.

and be less likely to engage in help seeking for their mental health concerns.<sup>49- 52</sup> The research on masculinity and adherence to masculine norms highlights the elevated risk associated with externalizing symptoms of depression, difficulty recognizing emotions and symptoms (in oneself and others), and having a limited ability and willingness to seek out help when experiencing mental health concerns. It is important to note that, while rigid adherence to masculine norms can lead to negative mental health and suicide outcomes among men, some masculine norms can be protective when applied flexibly.<sup>53, 54</sup> For example, Levant and Wimer (2014) found that higher levels of emotional control served as a protective buffer against anger and stress in men.<sup>55</sup>

### Stigma (and self-stigma)

According to the Public Health Agency of Canada, stigma

begins with the labeling of differences and negative stereotyping of people, creating a separation between "us" and "them."... Stigma happens in institutions (e.g., healthcare organizations), at a population level (e.g., norms and values), through interpersonal relationships (e.g., mistreatment), and internally (e.g., self-worth and value).  $(p. 22)^{56}$ 

Mental health-related stigma is incredibly harmful and can lead to a range of negative outcomes, including social isolation, reduced help seeking and adherence to treatment, and poorer recovery from mental illness.<sup>57-59</sup> Men can be affected by such stigma and, if they are diagnosed or receive treatment for mental illness, they may avoid seeking help over fear of losing the acceptance of their peers.<sup>60</sup> A systematic review of the literature by Clement and colleagues (2015) found that mental health-related stigma was the fourth highest barrier to help seeking, with men among the groups for whom stigma had a disproportionate effect.<sup>61</sup> In Canada, Oliffe and colleagues (2016) found that men held more stigmatizing attitudes toward male-type depression compared to women. Men were also more likely to report feeling embarrassed about seeking professional help for depression or about others knowing they had done so.<sup>62</sup>

### Mental health literacy

MHL refers to a person's awareness of and ability to recognize symptoms of different mental illnesses (in themselves and others), their knowledge of when and how to seek help or information, and their beliefs and attitudes about mental illness and help seeking.<sup>63</sup> Previous research on MHL has shown that, in general, men less often accurately identify symptoms of mental illness such as depression, anxiety, or psychosis than women do.<sup>64</sup> The same study also found that women were more likely to view symptoms as serious compared to men. In Seidler's and colleagues' (2016) systematic review, their analyses revealed that men more often view depressive symptoms (e.g., fatigue, low mood, restlessness, irritability) as potential signs of physical rather than mental illness.<sup>65</sup>

Lower levels of MHL in men may be explained in part by their conformity to certain masculine norms (e.g., self-reliance, emotional control, stoicism), which are thought to be "incompatible with communicative and interactive health literacy" (p. 2).<sup>66</sup> In one study, men who scored higher on a scale measuring conformity to masculine norms were shown to have lower levels of MHL. Specifically, they were less likely to agree that they had the ability to find good health information and to actively engage or be understood by health-care providers. The authors also found an association between moderate-to-severe depressive symptoms and lower MHL.<sup>67</sup> In addition, men may find it more difficult to recognize signs of male-type depression. In a representative survey of Canadians, Oliffe and colleagues (2016) found that women were more likely to correctly identify symptoms of male-type depression, thus demonstrating greater MHL regarding men's depression.<sup>68</sup> As well, poor MHL may contribute to lower levels of help seeking and health-service utilization among men. Research shows that individuals with higher levels of MHL are more likely to seek help, use psychotherapy, and recommend professional help to others.<sup>69,70</sup>

### Help seeking

Help seeking encompasses the initial call out for help as well as ongoing consultation and treatment.<sup>71</sup> Research exploring help seeking for mental health-related concerns shows that men are not only less likely to seek out help initially, when they do they are more likely to drop out of treatment and less likely to attend follow up sessions and engage meaningfully with their therapist.<sup>72,73</sup> Men who seek help may also wait to access services until their need for support is serious (e.g., when experiencing severe depression) and they have exhausted their other options (e.g., self-treatment, speaking with their partner).<sup>74,75</sup> In Rice and colleagues' (2020) study of men reporting symptoms of major depression, 60 per cent reported suicidal ideation in the past two weeks, only 8.5 per cent of whom were connected to mental health care.<sup>76</sup> An examination of 52 men by Cleary and colleagues (2017) on the uptake of services following hospital admission for a suicide attempt<sup>77</sup> found that one-third never attended their outpatient appointment; among those who did, one-third attended for less than a month. Men's negative attitudes toward treatment were pervasive, and many were doubtful about the efficacy of psychiatric treatment.<sup>78</sup> Men's experiences with therapy may have a direct impact on their treatment continuity, perceptions about its efficacy. and willingness to disclose their distress in the future.<sup>79,80</sup> Seidler and colleagues (2020) found that lower satisfaction with previous therapy was associated with greater doubt about its effectiveness, which in turn, was associated with greater reluctance to disclose distress to one's physician.<sup>81</sup>

Men may also be less likely to seek out help prior to suicide, compared to women.<sup>82- 84</sup> In a qualitative study exploring the experiences of men who had attempted suicide, Oliffe and colleagues (2021) found that, as "struggles (and fatalism) escalated" (p. 420), men experienced growing isolation that further prevented them from seeking out peer and/or professional help.<sup>85</sup> As one participant noted, "Just having the thought of suicide in your mind can take you down a whole new path in life... ... you're not in my state of mind ... and when you're going through depression or suicide, you don't want to talk to nobody" (p. 420). This same study highlighted that among those who attempted suicide, professional help was "needed acutely, regularly, and long-term" and that services were "especially valued when they explicitly linked to self-management" (p. 424).<sup>86</sup> Schaffer and colleagues (2016) found that, among those who died by suicide in Toronto without health-care contact in the prior year, almost 85 per cent were male.<sup>87</sup> In a systematic review examining contact with primary and mental health care prior to dying by suicide, women were found to have the highest rates of contact with health and mental health care.<sup>88</sup> That said, in the year prior to their death by suicide, 77 per cent of men were in contact with primary health care, and 26 per cent were in contact with mental health care services.<sup>89</sup> Collectively, these findings suggest that, while professional help is needed and some men are in fact utilizing health and mental health care prior to their death by suicide, their symptoms may be going unnoticed or else the care they are receiving may not be adequately addressing or meeting their needs.

Men who adhere more strongly to masculine ideals (e.g., strength, stoicism, self-reliance) have been shown to be less likely to seek help, drop out from mental health services, experience greater stigma from seeking help, and have less favourable views toward mental health and help seeking.<sup>90-93</sup> Further, men may avoid seeking help because they view therapy as "effeminate" and as relying on behaviours that contradict traditional masculine norms.<sup>94</sup> Hoy and colleagues (2012), in a meta-ethnography of qualitative studies, identified four specific barriers to help seeking among men: (1) social stigma, (2) apprehension about medical professionals and prescription medications, (3) difficulties communicating and sharing emotions and problems, and (4) a preference for managing their own health.<sup>95</sup>

While adherence to certain masculine norms has been shown to undermine men's help-seeking behaviours, research shows that health-care providers' adherence to these same norms may contribute to the low rates of mental health service utilization among men. Affleck and colleagues

(2018) have noted the inevitable influence of gender norms and gender biases on health-care providers when treating patients and how "traditional notions of masculinity are institutionalized in the wider medical system" (p. 586).<sup>96</sup> The authors cited several studies that highlight significant gender biases among health-care providers, including physicians who spend less time with men than with women during health visits (along with fewer and briefer explanations) and those who are less likely to diagnose mental illness among men and act upon it once detected.<sup>97</sup>

#### Use of more lethal means

One important difference between men and women with respect to suicide death is men's choice and use of means. Compared to women, men are far more likely to choose high-risk methods, make attempts using more lethal and violent means (i.e., suffocation, firearms), and to involve alcohol.<sup>98-101</sup> In Canada, suffocation (53.5%) and firearms (17.6%) accounted for a combined 71.1 per cent of men's suicide deaths in 2018.<sup>102</sup> When compared to other suicide methods, individuals using firearms are up to 140 times as likely to die on their first attempt.<sup>103</sup> Research also suggests that the lethality of suicidal acts may be higher among men than women, even when the same method is used.<sup>104,105</sup> Mergl and colleagues (2015) found that suicidal acts were 3.4 times as lethal in men than in women across all methods examined.<sup>106</sup> Interestingly, aggressivity, impulsivity, and alcohol use (known features of male-type depression) have been associated with more serious suicide attempts.<sup>107-109</sup>

### **Risk factors**

Risk factors are characteristics or conditions that, in combination with other influences, can make a person more vulnerable to suicide.<sup>110</sup> Evidence stemming from academic and scientific literature points to several notable and shared risk factors for suicide among men. The following section outlines these risk factors based on research in Canada and internationally.

#### Substance use

Alcohol and/or drug use (particularly at high doses) as well as alcohol and other substance use disorders are among the strongest risk factors for suicide attempts and mortality.<sup>111-</sup><sup>117</sup> Not only does the consumption of alcohol and/or drugs increase the likelihood of a suicide attempt, deaths that involve them tend to be more violent and lethal (i.e., hanging, shooting, drowning) and thus more fatal.<sup>118, 119</sup> Borges and colleagues (2017) found that any acute use of alcohol increases the likelihood of a suicide attempt by almost seven times, whereas high levels of acute drinking increases the likelihood by 37.18 times.<sup>120</sup> People who live with alcohol use disorder (AUD), characterized by an impaired ability to stop or control use, are also more likely to experience suicidal ideation (1.86 times as likely), attempt suicide (1.36), and die by suicide (3.13).<sup>121,122</sup> Compared to women, men are more likely to be diagnosed with AUD<sup>123</sup> and more likely to have elevated blood alcohol levels at the time of death by suicide.<sup>124</sup> Moreover, men who die by suicide are much more likely to have had a diagnosis of AUD than controls.<sup>125</sup> Men living with AUD as well as depression may have a particularly high risk of suicide. Holmstrand and colleagues (2015) found that the increased risk of dying by suicide for men with both AUD and depression was 25 times that of men whose AUD did not include depression.<sup>126</sup>

Studies exploring the relationship between opioid use and suicidal behaviours have reported high rates of suicidal ideation and attempts among individuals who use or are dependent on opioids.<sup>127-129</sup> It has been estimated that people who use heroin are up to 14 times as likely to die by suicide than their peers.<sup>130</sup> The association between opioid use and suicide risk may be explained in part by unemployment, homelessness, childhood trauma, and the lack of social support for those who use opioids.<sup>131</sup> In Canada, opioid-related deaths are responsible for a significant reduction in life expectancy, particularly among young men.<sup>132</sup> In 2017, the country reported 3,987 opioid-related deaths, 76 per cent of them men, with the highest burden of deaths occurring in British Columbia

(B.C.), Alberta, the Northwest Territories, and the Yukon.<sup>133,134</sup> The opioid crisis has affected certain groups at disproportionate rates, notably Indigenous peoples but also incarcerated populations and people experiencing homelessness.<sup>135</sup> In Alberta and B.C., First Nations people were up to five times as likely to experience an opioid-related overdose event and three times as likely to die as a result, compared to non-First Nations people.<sup>136</sup> It is important to acknowledge the significant limitations of available data on unintentional versus intentional overdose among people using opioids.<sup>137</sup> It is believed that the proportion of suicides among opioid-related deaths is underestimated due to misclassification of deaths and the reliance on human judgment to determine the intentionality of the act (i.e., coroners having little chance of knowing a decedent's "intent").<sup>138</sup>

While alcohol and opioid use have been linked to suicidal behaviours among men, the literature on cannabis use is less conclusive. While Borges and colleagues' (2016) literature review and metaanalysis<sup>\*\*,139</sup> found evidence to support a relationship between chronic cannabis use and suicidality, there was a lack of evidence supporting acute cannabis use and suicidality. To address this gap, the authors noted the need for controlled studies with large samples that differentiate between acute and chronic cannabis use.<sup>140</sup> With Canada's legalization of cannabis, more research is required to understand if, how, and to what extent acute and chronic cannabis use might influence mental health and suicidal behaviours, and whether these impacts vary according to sex and/or gender.

### Social isolation, loneliness, and loss of connectedness

Social isolation, loneliness, and loss of connectedness are important risk factors for suicidal thoughts and behaviours among men.<sup>141-</sup> <sup>147</sup> These risks may be heightened among men experiencing relationship breakdown and among those who live alone. Research indicates that men are at higher risk for suicidality following a relationship breakdown<sup>148</sup> and that being single, unmarried, divorced, or widowed significantly increases their risk for suicide.<sup>149-</sup> <sup>153</sup> In a systematic review conducted by Kazan and colleagues (2016), men were found to be six times as likely to die by suicide following a separation from their partner. While the effects of separation on suicidal behaviour were strongest in the period right after the separation, the risk of suicide remained elevated for up to four years.<sup>154</sup> Similar findings have been observed after divorce, where men have been shown to be up to eight times as likely as women to die by suicide following a divorce.<sup>155</sup> Parenthood (or having children) may have a protective effect on suicide risk among men. Dehara and colleagues (2021) found lower suicide rates in fathers with one (54% lower), two (64%), and three or more (59%) children than in men with no children.<sup>156</sup>

Shaw and colleagues (2021) reported that, compared to those living with a partner, men who were living alone or with non-partners were at greater risk for suicide death, whereas women in similar situations were not. The authors also found that men experiencing loneliness, and those living alone or with a non-partner only, had three times the risk of dying by suicide compared to those who cohabit and are not lonely.<sup>157</sup> These findings suggest that loneliness may be an important factor influencing suicide risk in those living alone or with non-partners.

In a photovoice study examining social isolation among men with a history of suicidality, Oliffe and colleagues (2019) found that the overarching themes were estrangement from family members, marginality in social contexts (e.g., school, work), alienation from mental health services (due to the potential provision of care against their will), increased substance use, and suicidal ideation.<sup>158</sup> These findings underscore the importance of isolation and loneliness, both as potential risk factors for suicidality and as exacerbating factors for those with a history of suicidality.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Suicidality includes suicidal ideation, intention, plans, and/or behaviours, with the intent of ending one's life.

### Depression

Depression is one of the most well studied and established risk factors for suicide (including ideation, attempts, and death).<sup>159-163</sup> For men, a diagnosis of depression is among the strongest predictors of suicidal behaviours.<sup>164</sup> Crump and colleagues (2014) reported that depression increased men's risk of suicide 15-fold, with the highest risk in the post-diagnosis period.<sup>165</sup> Compared to those who were diagnosed with psychiatric and somatic disorders but not depression, the risk of suicide in the 13-week period after a diagnosis of depression was 18-32 times as high.<sup>166</sup> Holmstrand and colleagues (2015) found that the odds of death by suicide was 8.4 times as high in men with depression, whereas the odds for women were less than a third of that at 2.6. The authors also found that suicide risk was particularly high (16.2%) among men who had both AUD and depression.<sup>167</sup> Although depression has emerged as one of the strongest risk factors for suicide among men, other mental health problems and illnesses, including anxiety, bipolar disorder, personality disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and schizophrenia, have all been linked to increased risk of suicide attempts and death.<sup>168</sup>

Physical comorbidities (e.g., prostate cancer) and a history of adverse childhood experiences (e.g., sexual abuse) substantially increase men's risk of problematic substance use, depression (particularly male-type with externalizing symptoms), and suicide.<sup>169-173</sup> Men who display symptoms of male-type depression may be at even greater risk of suicide than those displaying prototypic (internalizing) symptoms. In a study conducted by Rice and colleagues (2018), men with a marked externalizing profile (including substance use, anger, and risk taking) were more than 14 times as likely to have had a recent suicide plan and 21 times as likely to have attempted suicide in the last four weeks, compared to those who were asymptomatic.<sup>174</sup> These men were also four times as likely to have had a plan and to have attempted suicide than those displaying internalizing symptoms only.<sup>175</sup> Although depression is a well-established risk factor for suicide, it is important to recognize that many men who die by suicide do not have depression or other psychiatric illness prior to their death. For this reason, it is crucial to continue exploring how and to what extent social determinants of health influence suicide risk among men.

#### Sociodemographic factors.

Among men, research suggests that age, education, work status, and geography are important risk factors.

- Age. Age is an important risk factor for suicide attempts and death among men.<sup>176-178</sup> A scoping review by Oliffe and colleagues (2021) reported that young men may have a particularly high risk of suicide.<sup>179</sup> Suicide rates among adolescent males were twice as high as rates among adolescent females, with males less likely to have accessed health and mental health care services.<sup>180</sup> In Canada, suicide is the second leading cause of death among men aged 15-39.<sup>181-183</sup> Depression, bullying, and abuse were strongly associated with suicidal thoughts, behaviours, and death in this age group.<sup>184</sup> Older men (over 65) have also been shown to be at high risk for suicide. One study estimated that older men were nine times as likely to die by suicide as older women.<sup>185</sup> Oliffe and colleagues found that relationship breakdown, work- and finance-related stresses, and substance use were the most consistently reported risk factors for suicide among men (ages 45-54).<sup>186</sup>
- Education. Individuals with lower levels of educational attainment may be at higher risk of suicide.<sup>187-190</sup> Some studies report low educational attainment as a stronger risk factor in men (particularly young and older men) than in women.<sup>191-194</sup> Lorant and colleagues (2021) found that rates of suicide were more than two times as high in men with low levels of education, versus 1.3 times as high in women with low education levels.<sup>195</sup> This relationship may be explained in part by a combination of risk factors for suicide that include low levels of education attainment

and other social determinants of health (e.g., income, employment and working conditions, literacy, safe housing, social supports). These factors also include childhood adversity, mental health problems, substance use, and interpersonal or relationship problems, which may be more common among individuals with lower education.<sup>196,197</sup>

- Unemployment, job loss, and financial difficulties. Unemployment, job loss, and financial difficulties are strong risk factors for suicide attempts and death among men.<sup>198-209</sup> Mäki and colleagues (2021) reported that, compared to employed men, those with unstable employment were almost three times as likely to die by suicide, a risk almost four times as high among men experiencing long-term unemployment.<sup>210</sup> Work conditions and job stressors may also be important factors influencing men's suicide risk. Milner and colleagues (2017) found that working men who reported low job control, job insecurity, and unfair pay were more likely to report suicidal ideation than men who reported better working conditions.<sup>211</sup> For many men, work is strongly tied to their sense of purpose and worth, since it can provide both structure and routine in their lives.<sup>212</sup> In the absence of employment or financially fulfilling work, men's sense of identity can erode. In Oliffe and colleagues' (2013) qualitative study of men in Canada experiencing depression, men's sense of worth and success were found to be closely tied to their paid work, their financial and material success, and ultimately, their ability to "fill breadwinner and provider roles" (p. 1631).<sup>213</sup> A sense of regret was expressed by those who had not fulfilled their money-making potential, something which negatively impacted their emotional well-being. Among men nearing retirement, there was a strong sense of unfinished business, loss regarding routine and structure, and erosion connected to having an important purpose, which led some to experience a lack of motivation and depression.<sup>214</sup> Physical and mental health problems and problematic alcohol use may in part explain the higher rates of suicide among men who are unemployed or who have lost their jobs, compared to those who are employed. 215- 219
- Rural and remote. Men living in rural areas may be more likely to die by suicide (but not more likely to attempt it) compared to those living in urban areas.<sup>220</sup> In Canada, the risk of suicide has been shown to be higher among men living in rural or remote areas, including high rates among sexual minority youth.<sup>221-223</sup> Compared to their urban peers, sexual minority adolescent boys in rural areas were almost twice as likely to have seriously considered or attempted suicide in the last year.<sup>224</sup> During interviews in a small rural Canadian town (2017) with individuals who had lost a male (i.e., son, father, brother, friend, spouse, son-in-law) to suicide, <sup>225</sup> participants identified social stigma around mental health and the fear of being perceived as weak and vulnerable as factors that ultimately led men to hide their depression (and its cause); engage in risk-taking, violence, and aggression; and self-medicate instead of seeking professional help.<sup>226</sup> Compared to other areas, the Prairie provinces (i.e., Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba), known for being the most rural parts of Canada, have the highest rates of suicide.<sup>227</sup> These high rates among men may be due to a stronger alignment with masculine ideals (e.g., strength, invulnerability), greater access and use of firearms, isolation, high-risk occupations (e.g., resource extraction, farming), job instability, economic uncertainty, mental-health stigma (including self- and social stigma), poor access to formal health and mental health services, and high consumption of alcohol and drugs, particularly among young men.<sup>228-233</sup>
- Homelessness and precarious housing. Exceptionally high rates of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts have been reported among people experiencing homelessness and precarious housing.<sup>234-236</sup> A recent systematic review and meta-analysis reported a pooled current and lifetime prevalence of suicidal ideation of 17.8 per cent and 41.6 per cent, respectively, and a pooled current and lifetime prevalence of attempts of 9.2 per cent and 28.8 per cent, respectively, among people experiencing homelessness.<sup>237</sup> In Sinyor and colleagues' review of Toronto's coroner records for all suicide deaths between 1998 and 2012,<sup>238</sup> 60 of the 3,319

deaths were people experiencing homelessness, and 230 were precariously housed. Most of these deaths (83%) among the homeless population were men.<sup>239</sup> Temporary homelessness, caused by unstable and unsafe housing, may also increase men's risk for suicide in many populations. The dependence on relationships for stable housing may elevate the risk of suicide, either by increasing the potential for intimate partner violence (IPV) if the partner chooses to stay for the sake of avoiding homelessness<sup>240-244</sup> or, through a lack of stable housing, by (possibly) increasing anxiety, substance use, and unemployment .<sup>245-253</sup> A history of physical and/or sexual abuse, mental health disorders, and problematic substance use are highly prevalent among those experiencing homelessness or precarious housing and may be contributing to the disproportionately high rates of suicide in this population.<sup>254,255</sup>

### History of attempted suicide

People who attempt suicide are at greater risk of a subsequent attempt(s) and death, particularly in the first 12 months after an attempt.<sup>256-</sup><sup>263</sup> Compared to women, men may be more likely to reattempt and die by suicide. In Fuller-Thomson and colleagues' (2019) investigation of remission (i.e., absence of suicidal ideation) among individuals reporting a lifetime suicide attempt, the authors found that remission from suicide attempts was almost one-third as likely for men as for women.<sup>264</sup> A study by Bostwick and colleagues (2016) found that 81.8 per cent of individuals who attempted suicide died by suicide within a year; of those, 80 per cent were men.<sup>265</sup> Both older adults and men were associated with a higher risk of dying on a subsequent attempt.<sup>266</sup> This observation about the higher risk among men has been supported in several other studies.<sup>267-270</sup> One study by Finkelstein and colleagues (2015), which examined the risk of suicide and mortality following a first self-poisoning episode, found that "older age," "depression," and "male sex" were among the strongest predictors for eventual death by suicide.<sup>271</sup>

### Negative life events and intimate partner violence

Negative life events and adverse childhood experiences are associated with the onset of mental health disorders as well as suicide attempts and deaths.<sup>272-280</sup> In a study examining childhood traumas among men seeking outpatient psychiatric care in Canada, Kealy and colleagues (2016) found that adverse childhood experiences, including emotional neglect and physical or emotional abuse, were highly prevalent. Rates of reported abuse were much higher than what has been observed in general community samples.<sup>281</sup> Afifi and colleagues' (2014) study of different types of child abuse and their association with mental health disorders<sup>282</sup> found that physical abuse, sexual abuse, and exposure to IPV in childhood increased the odds of a suicide attempt by 1.7, 1.5, and 1.2 times, respectively. Turner and colleagues (2017) found that men with a history of childhood sexual abuse (CSA) or of CSA co-occurring with other types of child maltreatment had much higher odds of having a mental health disorder and attempting suicide, compared to those who experienced child maltreatment without CSA.<sup>283</sup>

IPV<sup>284- 287</sup> is also associated with suicidal behaviours, including ideation, attempts, and death.<sup>288</sup> In Canada, men account for 95 per cent of murder-suicides, the most common form being murder-suicide involving a man killing his spouse.<sup>289</sup> Some evidence suggests that the level of risk associated with IPV may differ according to whether the person is the perpetrator, victim, or both. Ulloa and Hammette (2016) reported significantly worse mental health outcomes, including depression and suicidality, among those who were both perpetrators and victims, with higher suicidality for perpetrators than victims.<sup>290</sup> Although it is unclear whether men are impacted more by adverse childhood experiences compared to women, many of the well-documented outcomes associated with childhood adversity and trauma are also robust risk factors for suicide among men (e.g., major depression, AUD, and substance use and other mental health disorders, including anxiety and suicide attempts).<sup>291- 293</sup>

# Subgroups among men who are at higher risk for suicide

Although men collectively account for 75 per cent of suicide deaths in any given year, the risk of suicide varies substantially across different groups.<sup>294</sup> The literature points to several important subgroups (in Canada, specifically) that are at greater risk for suicide. Many factors contribute to and influence this risk, yet the social determinants of health play an especially important role among certain subgroups and may disproportionately impact their rates of suicide. These factors include income, employment and working conditions, education, physical environments, access to health services, sexual orientation, gender expression, culture, race, and others.

The following section outlines notable subgroups from available quantitative and qualitative research on suicide, both in Canada and internationally.

### First Nations, Inuit, and Métis men

First Nations, Inuit, and Métis men in Canada have been identified as one of the most disproportionately affected populations in relation to their risk for suicide. Compared to the country's non-Indigenous people, suicide rates are nine times as high among Inuit, three times as high among First Nations, and two times as high among Métis.<sup>295</sup> These disparities in suicide mortality are so stark that suicide prevention has become a public health priority for governments and many Indigenous communities.<sup>296- 300</sup> Based on findings collected from the Canadian Census Health and Environment Cohorts (2011-2016), suicide rates among First Nations people living on reserve are higher than those living off reserve and higher among men than women.<sup>301</sup> Relative to men in the general population, Indigenous men exhibit higher rates of suicidal behaviours.<sup>302</sup> Studies have shown that this is particularly so among Inuit men, where suicide attempts are 10 times as high among male Inuit youth, compared to non-Indigenous male youth, and suicidal ideation is higher in Inuit men living off-reserve versus Inuit women living off-reserve.<sup>303</sup>

Researchers have drawn attention to unique suicide risk factors among Indigenous people related to collective trauma. Historical and colonial violence have resulted in intergenerational trauma, abuse, early childhood adversity, the erasure of family structures, a lack of access to health services and education, and increased substance use.<sup>304,305</sup> Colonization led to the forced settlement of nomadic tribes, relocation from traditional settlements, and the removal of children from their homes into residential schools. In the second half of the 20th century, children were also removed from non-Indigenous homes or orphanages into foster homes and child welfare institutions (referred to as the Sixties Scoop).<sup>306–308</sup> The Sixties Scoop engendered cultural dislocation and identity confusion, which is now closely linked to suicide among Indigenous peoples.<sup>309,310</sup> The country's child welfare system continues to be especially traumatic for Indigenous youth. While seven per cent of children in Canada identify as Indigenous, they make up 52 per cent of the those in foster care.<sup>311</sup>

In recent years, researchers have drawn attention to suicide pacts among Indigenous youth in Canada.<sup>312- 315</sup> Described as "a specific type of peer pressure involving high-risk and suicidal behaviours in the context of a 'game' or 'pact' that could be planned days or weeks in advance by youth" (p. 21), <sup>316</sup> they have been attributed to the intergenerational trauma and subsequent early childhood adversities experienced by Indigenous youth, especially in rural and remote contexts where services are difficult to access.<sup>317-319</sup> Here, it is important to note the many challenges of obtaining suicide surveillance information for Indigenous populations in Canada, which have been attributed to factors such as under-reporting, low base rates, data access, and geographical access.<sup>320,321</sup>

### Sexual and gender minorities

Men in sexual and gender minority (SGM) groups in Canada have been identified as a key population affected by greater suicide risk. In general, they experience high rates of societal stigma, mental health disorders, substance use disorders, and suicidality.<sup>322,323</sup> SGM populations are two to four times as likely to report depression and two to five times as likely to report lifetime suicide attempts, compared to heterosexual and cisgendered people.<sup>324</sup> One in five individuals identifying as a sexual minority (e.g., lesbian, gay, bisexual) and one in two identifying as a gender minority (e.g., transgender, non-binary) have attempted suicide in their lifetime.<sup>325</sup> Rates of suicidal ideation and behaviour are even higher among gender minority groups who (1) report co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders, (2) are from racial minorities, (3) live in poverty, and (4) live with disabilities.<sup>326</sup> Men in same-sex partnerships are at substantially increased risk for suicide mortality, compared to women in same-sex partnerships.<sup>327</sup> Compared to heterosexual men, sexual minority men (e.g., gay, bisexual, queer) experience higher rates of suicidality and/or suicide and are up to six times as likely to experience suicidal ideation.<sup>328</sup> In one study, the likelihood of a suicide attempt was found to be 16 times as high for individuals in this subgroup who had three or more concurrent health problems (e.g., depression, anxiety, drug use, smoking, HIV infection).<sup>329</sup> Gay and bisexual men with annual incomes of less than \$30,000 who had no university education were also found to be five times as likely to attempt suicide than those with a university degree and incomes over \$30,000.330,331

Researchers have drawn attention to the unique risk factors experienced by sexual minority men, such as bullying, victimization, HIV-related social exclusion, stigma, violence due to homophobia, low rates of mental health literacy (MHL), and heightened risk of suicidality following conversion therapy.<sup>332-335</sup> They have also highlighted unique risks for gender minorities (including transmen, transwomen, and non-binary persons), which include constant misgendering by those around them and a lack of access to gender-affirming health services due to protocol restrictions, time delays, and affordability.<sup>336-338</sup>

### Occupation groups

Several occupational groups are at increased risk for suicidal behaviour. High rates of suicidal ideation have been observed among people working in industries with greater access to lethal means, exposure to occupational trauma and involvement in hazardous duty, as well as industries that entail high job stress and insecurity.<sup>339,340</sup>

Men in the military (including active and deployed military personnel, regular Armed Forces personnel, and veterans) experience high rates of mental health problems (i.e., depression, anxiety, PTSD) and suicidality.<sup>341</sup> Sareen and colleagues (2016) found that, compared to civilians in Canada, military personnel were 1.3 and 1.7 times as likely to report suicidal ideation and plans in the past year.<sup>342</sup> Whereas suicidal ideation among women in the military decreased over time, among men in the military the prevalence of lifetime and past-year suicidal ideation remained unchanged.<sup>343</sup> Oliffe and colleagues (2021) found that exposure to occupational trauma and deployment-related traumatic events — when combined with physical conditions, a history of childhood abuse, and pre-existing psychiatric disorders — contributed to higher rates of suicidality among these men.<sup>344</sup>

Public safety personnel (i.e., firefighters, police, paramedics) also experience higher lifetime suicidality compared to the general population, with a greater prevalence among paramedics and correctional workers who are single, divorced, separated, or widowed.<sup>345,346</sup>

In addition, occupational groups mainly performing manual labour (e.g., construction, farming, and resource extraction) experience high rates of suicide due to economic uncertainty, mental health stigma, social isolation and loneliness, increased alcohol consumption, poor working conditions, and

a lack of access to mental health services.<sup>347-351</sup> Many of these occupations can be seasonal and sporadic, forcing men to travel greater distances and spend extended periods away from family and other support systems.<sup>352</sup>

### Immigrants and refugees

Although the literature does not necessarily point to higher suicide rates among Canada's immigrant (versus non-immigrant) populations, some evidence suggests that the risk of suicide is higher among men than among women.<sup>353, 354</sup> Saunders and colleagues (2019), in a population-based study examining suicide among recent immigrants in Ontario, reported that suicide rates were almost twice as high in immigrant men compared to immigrant women (4.4 per 100,000 versus 2.5 per 100,000, respectively).<sup>355</sup> A systematic review and meta-analysis of suicide among immigrants and refugees estimated the prevalence of suicide among refugees at 10 per cent, which is about five times as high as the larger immigrant population.<sup>356</sup> Unlike immigrants who relocated to Canada of their own accord, refugee populations may have an increased risk of suicide due to such factors as stress, the trauma caused by displacement, and the violence suffered before or during the resettlement process.<sup>357</sup> High rates of PTSD and depression have been observed among refugees in Canada, likely because of pre-migratory, migratory, and post-migration stressors related to physical well-being, finances, shelter, education, and health.<sup>358</sup> The literature also points to the underreporting of mental illness and suicidal behaviour among certain groups of immigrants and refugees due to cultural views that can limit awareness around mental health (e.g., stigma, disgrace, shame, criminality).<sup>359, 362</sup> In certain cases, immigrants and refugees may report physical pain instead of psychological symptoms.<sup>363</sup> This is especially true for conflict-affected populations, where psychological pain and suffering have either been normalized into everyday life or be seen as less important than housing and job opportunities.<sup>364-366</sup> Canada's immigrant and refugee populations may also experience barriers related to language, culture, finances, (longer) wait times, and stigma when accessing mental health services, which can make it difficult to access needed support.<sup>367</sup>

### Racialized groups

Racialized groups, such as African, Caribbean, and Black (ACB), southeast Asian, and Latin populations, may experience increased risk for suicide. Discrimination among racialized groups has been associated with increased rates of depression and suicidal ideation.<sup>368</sup> Suicide rates among racialized men in North America is significant; for example, African American men are four to six times as likely to die by suicide as African American women.<sup>369,370</sup> Toomey and colleagues (2019) found that Latinx adolescents (ages 11-19) who self-identified as bisexual, lesbian, and/or gay were 1.2-1.4 times as likely to attempt suicide than heterosexual non-Latinx adolescents.<sup>371</sup>

### The importance of intersectionality

Although studies on suicidality have focused on subgroups among men, the recent literature draws attention to the importance of the relationship between intersectionality and suicide.<sup>372, 373</sup> Intersectionality explores the dynamics between co-existing social identities (e.g., intersections between gender and race) and systems of power or oppression.<sup>374</sup> Ferlatte and colleagues' (2018) study of recent suicide attempts among gay and bisexual men across sociodemographic variables <sup>375</sup> found the highest concentration of attempts among those without a university degree earning annual incomes of less than \$30,000.<sup>376</sup> Similarly, research on Indigenous populations indicates that suicide risk among two spirit people is far greater than among the heterosexual Indigenous population.<sup>377</sup> This may be due to experiences of homophobia and isolation, higher rates of substance use, and traumatic experiences.<sup>378</sup> To design appropriate interventions that respond to the unique factors that bring a heightened risk for suicide, it is important to examine and understand the compounding effects of multiple marginalized identities.<sup>379,380</sup>

### How has COVID-19 impacted men?

Reports from the early stage of the pandemic revealed significant increases in symptoms of anxiety and depression among people in Canada as well as increases in loneliness, social isolation, and problematic substance use.<sup>381-</sup> <sup>387</sup> Some reports have also noted increases in suicidal behaviour and self-harm.<sup>388</sup> While many reports suggest that COVID-19 has disproportionately impacted women (both in terms of job loss and mental health), for men it has amplified pre-existing risk factors for suicide, such as job loss, financial insecurity, social isolation, and substance use. Given the strength of these risk factors for influencing suicidal behaviour, the potential and observed impact of the pandemic on men cannot be overlooked. The following section provides an overview of the literature on COVID-19 as it relates to men's mental health and suicide.

### Vulnerability to COVID-19

COVID-19 survivors may be at elevated risk for mental health issues and suicide due to the stress associated with a COVID-19 diagnosis, hospitalization and ICU admission, the loss of income, the onset of physical symptoms, and neurological conditions.<sup>389</sup> Research exploring sex differences in relation to COVID-19 suggests that men may have greater vulnerability to infection along with more severe disease and adverse outcomes compared to women. In a population-wide cohort study in Ontario, Stall and colleagues (2020) found that men received less testing for COVID-19 and had higher rates of laboratory-confirmed infection, hospitalization, ICU admission, and death than did women.<sup>390</sup> Higher rates of pre-existing comorbid disease, engagement in high-risk behaviours (e.g., smoking, drinking), and poorer adherence to COVID-19 precautionary behaviours (e.g., hand washing, mask wearing, physical distancing) in men may partially explain these differences.<sup>391</sup>

### Mental health decline and psychological distress

National polls and surveys have shown that rates of psychological distress, anxiety, and depression have increased during the pandemic.<sup>392-398</sup> Although a higher proportion of women are reporting deteriorations in mental health, rates of self-reported stress, anxiety, and depression are also high among men. A July 2021 survey by the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH) found that 17.6 per cent of men were feeling depressed and 16.2 per cent were experiencing moderate-to-severe anxiety.<sup>399</sup> In Ogrodniczuk and colleagues' (2021) investigation of the psychosocial impact of the pandemic on help seeking among men<sup>400</sup> 79.3 per cent indicated that their mental health was negatively affected by COVID-19, and 42.2 per cent reported experiencing suicidal ideation.<sup>401</sup> In a recent Movember survey, two-thirds of men (aged 18-54) in Canada said they had experienced a mental health challenge since the pandemic began.<sup>402</sup>

### Job loss and financial insecurity

Job loss and financial insecurity have been shown to increase vulnerability to both mental illness and suicide.<sup>403-407</sup> Research from past economic recessions shows an association between increased unemployment and higher rates of suicide, particularly among men.<sup>408-412</sup> National surveys conducted during the pandemic show that mental health deterioration and binge drinking have been more pronounced in those who have lost their job, are no longer working due to the pandemic, and are very worried about their finances.<sup>413,414</sup> Statistics Canada's Labour Force Survey (conducted early on in the pandemic) reported that 14.6 per cent of men had lost their jobs as of April 2020, and that a higher proportion of men (versus women) who did so lost full-time employment (92.9% versus 69.9%, respectively).<sup>415</sup> While unemployment rates have decreased significantly since then, the potential impacts of men's losses in employment and finances as the pandemic began should be considered when assessing suicide risk and for continued prevention efforts. Ogrodniczuk and colleagues' (2021) study on help seeking among men also found that, as a result of the pandemic, a

quarter of respondents lost their job, 17 per cent worked fewer hours, and half experienced at least moderate financial stress.  $^{\rm 416}$ 

### Problematic alcohol and substance use

Alcohol and drug use as well as substance use disorders have been shown to significantly increase the risk of suicide attempts and mortality.<sup>417- 419</sup> Data collected during the pandemic, which show increases in the consumption of alcohol and cannabis, have been more pronounced in men.<sup>420- 422</sup> In a series of polls conducted by CAMH, significantly more men than women reported engaging in binge drinking<sup>423</sup> – a trend that remained steady from May 2020 to July 2021. A series of polls by the MHCC and the Canadian Centre Substance Use and Addiction (CCSA) during the pandemic revealed that, compared to women, more men reported problematic substance use.<sup>424</sup> Specifically, 28 per cent of men who reported consuming alcohol (before the pandemic), reported problematic alcohol use, and 43 per cent of men who reported consuming cannabis (before the pandemic) reported problematic cannabis use (compared to 16 and 32 per cent of women, respectively).<sup>425</sup>

### Social isolation, loneliness, and relationship breakdown

Many of the public health measures adopted during the pandemic (e.g., stay-at-home orders, closure of non-essential businesses) have impacted individuals' ability to access their usual social networks and supports. Unemployment and job loss coupled with stay-at-home orders significantly reduced social integration among people in Canada. Social isolation, loneliness, and relationship breakdown are significant risk factors for suicide, particularly among men.<sup>426-428</sup> There is some anecdotal evidence that rates of separation and divorce have increased in Canada throughout the pandemic.<sup>429,430</sup> Research conducted by Ogrodniczuk and colleagues (2021) on the psychosocial impact of COVID-19 among help-seeking men, found that those living alone felt the greatest impact on their mental health, while 40 per cent indicated that the pandemic had negatively impacted their intimate partner relationship.<sup>431</sup> Of particular concern was that one-third of respondents reported engaging in some form of abuse toward their intimate partner, and that 27.3 per cent had experienced abuse by their intimate partner.<sup>432</sup> Other research suggests that men are feeling lonely, are connecting virtually with family and friends less often, are feeling less connected to their friends, and have been experiencing weakened relationships with friends and colleagues since stay-at-home and physical distancing restrictions were imposed.<sup>433-435</sup>

### Help seeking

Men are less likely to seek out help for mental health difficulties<sup>436</sup> and are about half as likely to seek out help from a mental health professional and/or a general practitioner as women.<sup>437</sup> In fall 2020, almost one in five people in Canada reported needing some help with their mental health.<sup>438</sup> Of these, 45 per cent reported that their needs were either unmet or partially met.<sup>439</sup> In the MHCC and CCSA poll on mental health and substance use during COVID-19, men were less likely to have accessed mental health treatment in the past month.<sup>440</sup> National survey data from Canada and the U.S. have shown that many men put off seeing a doctor for non-COVID-19-related health issues early on in the pandemic (particularly among those aged 18-34) and were less likely than women to have sought out help to manage COVID-19 life changes or connect virtually with a mental health worker or counsellor.<sup>441- 443</sup> Since the pandemic started, health-care providers have seen an increased demand for mental health services, along with a limited capacity to meet patients' needs due to their own illness and increased anxiety and depression, which have meant longer waits and staff shortages.<sup>444,445</sup> For those without access to a phone, computer, and/or internet (e.g., those living in rural and remote areas, those experiencing homelessness and precarious housing) the virtual delivery of health and mental health services has likely created additional barriers to help seeking.

### Subgroups living in marginalized conditions

COVID-19 has amplified known risk factors for suicide, particularly among certain subgroups of the population. National survey data collected during the pandemic shows that Indigenous people and people identifying as 2SLGBTQ+ are reporting greater deteriorations in mental health as well as increased alcohol and cannabis use, self-harm, and suicidal thoughts and feelings, compared to the general population.<sup>446-449</sup>

Brennan and colleagues (2020) explored how social distancing might impact gay, bisexual, queer, trans, two spirit, and other men who have sex with men (GBT2Q+).<sup>450</sup> In discussing the results of the Community-Based Research Centre's 2019-20 Sex Now Survey, the authors noted that 21 per cent of the GBT2Q+ sample reported depression scores above clinical screening thresholds prior to the pandemic. Almost 60 per cent reported wanting help with a mental health problem they were facing; of those, 19 per cent needed help dealing with suicidal thoughts.<sup>451</sup> Considering the high rates of depression and mental health support needs of GBT2Q+ people prior to the pandemic, and the impact of COVID-19 on their ability to access usual supports and resources (e.g., the loss of social outlets, disruptions to community-based mental and sexual health-related services and resources, delays and cancellations in gender affirming surgeries), focused efforts are required to understand and address the pandemic's potential impacts on mental health and suicidal behaviours in this group.<sup>452,453</sup>

Pre-existing social and health inequities paired with major disruptions to cultural and collective practices, may put Indigenous people and their communities at higher risk of adverse physical and mental health outcomes, both during and after the pandemic.<sup>454</sup> Jenkins and colleagues (2021), who explored the mental health impact of the pandemic in Canada, found that Indigenous respondents were experiencing greater stress related to physical and emotional domestic violence, increased alcohol use, and suicidal thoughts and feelings compared to non-Indigenous respondents.<sup>455</sup> Although COVID-19 has had a negative impact on Indigenous peoples, it is important to acknowledge the limitations of the available data, which has focused more on the negative mental health impact of the pandemic than on community resiliency and resourcefulness in developing and implementing innovative responses to COVID-19.<sup>456</sup> In an editorial exploring issues that the pandemic raises for Indigenous communities, Power and colleagues (2020) highlight the importance of acknowledging the many ways Indigenous peoples have responded and adapted to these challenges:

Indigenous Peoples are known to survive historical and contemporary adversities, demonstrating resourcefulness and resilience in adversity. Despite the marginalisation of Indigenous Peoples in countries' COVID-19 responses, Indigenous communities are instituting their own measures in the presence of universal approaches to managing not only the spread of COVID-19 but in addressing the needs borne out of poverty, housing and food insecurity. (p. 2739)<sup>457</sup>

# Men's suicide prevention practices

Recognizing the high rates of suicide among men in Canada, as well as the observed and potential impacts of COVID-19 on risk factors for suicide, it is imperative that suicide prevention approaches continue to be informed by evidence and be developed and adapted for men. For the purposes of this evidence brief, these approaches were defined as "any specific intervention, program or service which aimed to reduce the incidence of suicide or suicidal behaviour or ideation in males, or strategies employed by men themselves (or those around them) that attempted to address suicidal behaviour and/or promote help-seeking" (p. 81).<sup>458</sup>

The following section outlines best and promising practices in suicide prevention for men at the individual and community levels.

### **Best practices**

This section highlights practices identified in the literature with an emphasis on the Canadian context. The Public Health Agency of Canada's definition<sup>††</sup> was used to guide the search for and identification of best practices in men's suicide prevention.

### Mental health literacy for men

As previously mentioned, men exhibit lower levels of mental health literacy (MHL) compared to women <sup>459, 460</sup> and may have difficulty recognizing the signs and symptoms of male-type depression. <sup>461</sup> Suicide prevention approaches, when promoted through language that is accessible, understandable, and inclusive of men from diverse backgrounds, have been shown to advance their MHL.<sup>462- 464</sup> Introducing and explaining complex topics (e.g., male-type depression, substance use disorders) to help men learn and apply health promotion strategies is also an important strategy. <sup>465, 466</sup> Studies of men who had previously attempted suicide also underline the importance of expanding MHL education to close friends and family members as a way to improve ongoing supports.<sup>467</sup>

### Gatekeeper training

The World Health Organization recommends gatekeeper training as part of a comprehensive suicide prevention strategy.<sup>468</sup> Such interventions are aimed at improving early detection of suicidal ideation and suicidal behaviour by training large numbers of community members to recognize and refer those at risk (e.g., Mental Health First Aid, ASIST, safeTALK). Gatekeeper training programs have been implemented with a focus on populations with elevated risk of suicide, including military personnel, youth, and Indigenous communities.<sup>469-471</sup> Many studies reported decreases in suicide for trainees and those they are socially connected to following various types of gatekeeper training that target whole community populations.<sup>472</sup> Although shown to be a best practice among whole populations, researchers have identified further opportunities to tailor this training to additional atrisk populations, such as sexual and gender minorities (SGMs).<sup>473</sup> From a 2017 survey among the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>††</sup> "A Best Practice is defined as an intervention, program, or initiative that has, through multiple implementations, demonstrated: high impact (positive changes related to the desired goals), high adaptability (successful adaptation and transferability to different settings), and high quality of evidence (excellent quality of research/evaluation methodology, confirming the intervention's high impact and adaptability evidence)." See Public Health Agency of Canada. (n.d.) *Canadian best practices portal: Intervention type – Best practices.* <u>https://cbpp-pcpe.phac-aspc.gc.ca/interventions/search-interventions/</u>

2SLGBTQ+ community in Canada, 95 per cent of respondents indicated an interest in gatekeeper training tailored to risk factors specific to SGM populations (e.g., sex- and gender-based discrimination and exposure to HIV-related stigma and stress).<sup>474</sup> It is recommended that gatekeeper training be assessed in the context of the population it serves and also be informed by the specific risk factors the specific community has experienced.

#### Awareness campaigns

Suicide prevention awareness campaigns include the use of posters, leaflets, websites, and general communication strategies to increase education among the public. Those that are specifically for men have focused on providing information about symptoms of depression and the local resources available to those seeking help.<sup>475</sup> These campaigns have been especially effective when the information is tailored toward when and how men can get help.<sup>476</sup> Studies have also observed that distributing information specific to male-type depression was also of benefit to men.<sup>477</sup> It is important to note that awareness campaigns tied to broader suicide prevention programs in their local regions have shown promise in reducing suicide rates and suicidal behaviour, compared to those not tied to broader initiatives.<sup>478</sup> It is recommended that awareness campaigns provide information to enhance MHL and continue to break down stigma, misinformation, and stereotypes about therapy and medication.<sup>479</sup>

### Means safety

One possible explanation for the gender paradox of suicidal behaviour<sup>480</sup> is the use of more violent and lethal means in male suicide attempts.<sup>481,482</sup> In Canada, men's primary means of suicide is suffocation, followed by firearms, then poisoning.<sup>483</sup> There is substantial evidence that lethal means restriction and means safety activities (which emphasize collaboration with mental health professionals and autonomous decision making) are effective suicide prevention strategies.<sup>484- 487</sup> Comprehensive means safety activities can include placing safety barriers on bridges, reporting firearm ownership, using medication lockboxes at home, and implementing safe disposal programs for certain medications, among other strategies.<sup>488- 491</sup> Studies have also pointed to the benefits of responsible media reporting and means safety training.<sup>492- 497</sup>

#### Safety plans and ongoing crisis support

The objective of a safety plan is to reduce suicide risk for individuals experiencing suicidal ideation and/or suicidal behaviour. Developed jointly with a health-care provider, safety plans include personalized coping strategies, crisis support resources, and information about restricting access to lethal means.<sup>498</sup> Additional considerations such as including close family and friends when drafting safety plans may be beneficial, given that men's decision making before a suicide attempt may be "affected by impulsiveness and lack of systematic reasoning or insight into other available options" (p. 266).<sup>499</sup> Safety planning has long been considered a best-practice approach for reducing the risk of suicide among individuals experiencing suicidal ideation and behaviour.<sup>500,501</sup> Recent comparison studies demonstrate that patients who received safety planning interventions were half as likely to exhibit suicidal behaviour and more than twice as likely to attend mental health treatment during the six-month follow up period, compared to patients who did not receive such interventions.<sup>502</sup> When drafting a safety plan following a suicide attempt, a case management technique that ensures contact within one week of the attempt, followed by six months of ongoing psychological support, is recommended.<sup>503</sup>

### **Promising practices**

This section highlights several practices for men's suicide prevention in Canada. The Public Health Agency of Canada's definition<sup>‡‡</sup> was used to guide the search for and identification of promising practices.

### Reframing "masculinity" to encourage help seeking

In recent years, researchers have begun to discuss the concept of a "multiplicity of masculinities," which acknowledges the existence of fluid and dynamic masculinities beyond hegemonic or traditional masculinity.<sup>504,505</sup> Recognizing how traditional masculine norms can limit help seeking, suicide prevention approaches have sought to reframe the way masculinity is conceived so as to facilitate emotional expression.<sup>506,507</sup> Connell's concept of the "plurality of masculinities"<sup>508</sup> has "afforded an important frame to thread gender and other social determinants to men's community-based health promotion programming" (p. 1231).<sup>509</sup> Most recently, researchers have discussed how a positive masculinity model can encourage men and health-care providers to co-construct a concept of masculinity that leans on men's desire for self-development to enhance their mental health.<sup>510,511</sup> Suicide prevention approaches for men have shown the potential to reduce suicide risk by allowing participants to redraw more flexible boundaries around "masculinity" that give room for emotional expression while focusing on recovery to facilitate help-seeking practices.<sup>512,513</sup>

### Program evaluation and intersectionality

To be effective suicide prevention approaches for men greatly depend on the extent to which they are informed by (formally evaluated) intersections with social determinants of health on the populations they serve.<sup>514</sup> By evaluating suicide rates and suicidal behaviour through an intersectional lens, researchers and mental health professionals can consider the different identities and experiences of the groups they serve (specifically as they relate to experiences of discrimination and disadvantage) and design suicide prevention approaches that are culturally, racially, geographically, and gender appropriate.

As an example, Salami and colleagues (2019) found that, in Alberta, the most significant barrier to immigrants' and refugees' access to mental health services was language.<sup>515</sup> As a direct response, targeted suicide prevention approaches focused on having language interpreters available to accompany patients.<sup>516</sup> Gross and colleagues (2016) assessed a suicide prevention program for men in the Downtown Eastside community in Vancouver.<sup>517</sup> Due to its innovative model of engaging men in a safe space while honouring Indigenous healing principles (e.g., medicine wheel teachings, regular participation of elders), the authors found that the program effectively addressed a critical gap in health services, particularly for Indigenous men in the community. Participants more often reported higher levels of quality of life, spiritual well-being, mental health benefits, health confidence, physical health, and social and peer support, which corresponded to key elements of the medicine wheel approach.<sup>518</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>#</sup> "A Promising Practice is defined as an intervention, program, service, or strategy that shows potential (or 'promise') for developing into a best practice. Promising practices are often in the earlier stages of implementation, and as such, do not show the high level of impact, adaptability, and quality of evidence as best practices. However, their potential is based on a strong theoretical underpinning to the intervention." See Public Health Agency of Canada. (n.d.) *Canadian best practices portal: Intervention type – Promising practices.* https://cbpp-pcpe.phac-aspc.gc.ca/interventions/search-interventions/

Covering a range of social and economic factors, the social determinants of health provide context for a specific person's ability to access health services, including mental health supports such as counselling and medication. Recent studies have begun focusing on at-risk populations such as Indigenous men to inform trauma-oriented practices and sexual minority men (i.e., gay, bisexual, men who have sex with other men) to focus on HIV-related stigma.<sup>519-521</sup> Ferlatte and colleagues (2018) note that, by acknowledging the multiple identities held by men, suicide prevention approaches can "attend to multiple axes of social disadvantage, including those related to income, ethnicity, education, sexual identity, and living environment" (p. 1521).<sup>522</sup> Program evaluation must remain closely tied to the social determinants of health with an intersectional lens while continually assessing its effectiveness at different program milestones and time frames.<sup>523</sup>

### Increased awareness and detection of male-type depression symptoms

In addition to assessing prototypic symptoms of depression using scales like the PHQ-9, recent research recommends that health-care professionals administer testing scales to assess symptoms specific to male-type depression.<sup>524</sup> These tools may include the Male Depression Risk Scale (MDRS-22), the Masculine Depression Scale, among others.<sup>525-528</sup> Given that men may wait to access services until their need is serious, early detection of male-type depression symptoms (and subsequent mental health care referral) has the potential to decrease their suicide risk.<sup>529-531</sup> Further, reframing depression as a medical condition, while leaning on action-oriented support that is future- rather than emotion-focused, has improved help-seeking behaviours among men.<sup>532</sup> Although these tailored testing scales have shown to increase the detection of male-type depression symptoms, further research has been recommended for diverse populations of men who are actively experiencing suicidality.<sup>533</sup>

### Suicide risk assessment tailored to men

Studies have indicated the potential importance of conducting specialized suicide risk assessment for men in emergency departments, as they are more likely to seek help for non-mental health-related reasons.<sup>534-536</sup> Studies on male suicide decedents have shown that, in the month before their death, about 45 per cent had received health-care services and approximately 20 per cent had received mental health care services.<sup>537,538</sup> It is as important for health-care providers to conduct suicide risk assessments during non-mental health-related visits as it is to refer them when suicide risk is detected.<sup>539,540</sup> Although there are no special instruments recommended for such screening, specialized suicide risk assessments may include closer attention to male-specific risk factors (e.g., male-type depression, substance use, adverse childhood experiences).<sup>541</sup> Researchers also recommend screening those with physical comorbidities (e.g., prostate cancer) for potential suicide risk.<sup>542</sup>

### Enhancing physician-patient relationships

Physicians are often men's first point of contact when seeking help.<sup>543</sup> Studies have found a significant positive association between men's perceptions about the quality of their relationship with their physician and the willingness to receive mental health support.<sup>544</sup> Acknowledging the existing research on the limitations that general practitioners' attitudes about men and women may have on the practitioner-patient relationship<sup>545</sup> (e.g., with men, spending less time during health visits, offering fewer and briefer explanations, being less likely to diagnose mental illness), it is important for physicians to be aware of any conscious or unconscious gender biases and how these may affect their interactions with male patients.

Gender competence training may be a useful way to teach physicians how to reflect on their gender socialization and its impact on clinical encounters and, ultimately, enhance the quality of suicide prevention interventions for men.<sup>546</sup> Such training should also include gender-affirming practices to

reduce the misgendering of patients based on their sex assignment at birth.<sup>547-549</sup> Improved help-seeking behaviours have been observed in health-care relationships based on trust, communication, and collaboration.<sup>550,551</sup>

In keeping with the critical nature of positive physician-patient relationships, suicide prevention approaches that focus on expanding MHL and knowledge among general practitioners have resulted in increased mental health referrals and improved help-seeking behaviours among patients.<sup>552, 553</sup> In a photovoice study by Oliffe and colleagues (2021), a gay man in his mid-40s contrasted the help he received after an overdose attempt:

Someone listened to me, both the psychiatrist at the student health clinic and the doctor. They completely understood what was going on, explained it to me. Like my previous doctor had said, "suck it up," and he had been my doctor forever. So that's what I thought I had to do, and then I just didn't give up and I was like, "I'm going to try and see the people at our clinic here." And I got this doctor who was amazing and made me feel normal and that it was okay, and that there was help, and she set me up with the psychiatrist right away and with medication. (p 424)<sup>554</sup>

### Implementing suicide prevention approaches in informal settings

Several studies have focused on the importance of men-friendly community spaces to facilitate recruitment and participation. These approaches include interventions that promote social interaction <sup>555</sup> and encourage connections with confidants in the form of friends, neighbours, and others in the community. <sup>556</sup> Some research indicates that men may prefer environments that involve "shoulder-to-shoulder," action-oriented tasks outside a formal clinic, rather than "face-to-face," talk-focused therapy. <sup>557, 558</sup> Men's preference for informal support through spaces of continual learning, where individuals can share knowledge or skills through mentorship (e.g., glass tempering, auto mechanics, camping), has also been emphasized. <sup>559</sup> It is important that programs be place based and provide culturally appropriate supports that consider a community's capacity, socio-economic and cultural landscape, and underlying inequities. <sup>560, 561</sup> Equally important are activities that allow participants to reframe and expand the concept of "masculinity." <sup>562, 563</sup>

#### Online resources and supports

The internet is one of the primary places where men seek help when experiencing suicidal ideation and/or behaviours. Rice and colleagues (2014) reported that men are twice as likely to seek online resources than they are to consult a health-care professional.<sup>564</sup> The internet's reach, accessibility, and flexibility for autonomous help seeking make it a promising tool for men's suicide prevention approaches.<sup>565</sup> Online prevention approaches, which have increased exponentially due to the pandemic,<sup>566</sup> have explored skills training, consultation, and MHL education.<sup>567</sup> In studies of various anonymous supports, men tend to prefer communicating via email or through e-mental health platforms that allow for arms-length support.<sup>568,569</sup> These types of supports enable men to disclose suicidal ideation while maintaining confidentiality.<sup>570</sup> Virtual platforms have also been shown to significantly reduce wait times in Canada.<sup>571</sup>

These online resources and supports should be closely monitored by mental health professionals to ensure that safe language and appropriate resources for suicide prevention are being shared. Where appropriate, they should refer individuals to one-on-one supports offered by mental health professionals.<sup>572</sup> In terms of ways to increase their uptake among men, several elements stand out, such as using plain language, amplifying men's testimonials, normalizing help seeking, and utilizing interactive strategies to enhance MHL.<sup>573</sup> Despite the growing accessibility and use of online supports, researchers have noted a lack of specific programs for men with depression.<sup>574</sup>

### Group-based supports

Research has explored the ways in which group-based supports facilitate protective factors to prevent suicide among men. Studies have shown a preference among men for programs that encourage social connectedness and emphasize "mates supporting mates."<sup>575</sup> These peer-to-peer programs have allowed men to connect with those who share similar lived experiences and challenge the notion that "nobody cares."<sup>576</sup> In certain cases, such as veteran transition programs, these supports provide action-based strategies to process traumatic life events.<sup>577</sup> The opportunity to reflect on social connections and consider consequences for loved ones also appears to exert a strong influence on deterring suicide attempts.<sup>578</sup> Group-based supports designed to equip men with MHL tools through collaborative leadership models have shown a great deal of promise.<sup>579</sup> Instead of merely relying on external forces to prevent men from hurting themselves, embedded notions of leadership and resilience can facilitate decision making and responsibility for choosing to live or change unhelpful behaviours.<sup>580</sup> In a qualitative study by Kivari and colleagues (2018), a military veteran reflected on the benefits of group-based supports as part of a veteran transition program:

Everyone in the group was able to reflect on the story that was told and say, "Your story was impactful on me because I had a similar experience when such and such a thing happened to me." We said, "Wow we had the same childhood." That's a positive thing. Even if your childhood was horrible, suddenly you're in a room with four or five different guys saying, "Hey man, I'm just like you," or "You're just like me." That goes a long way towards not feeling so alone anymore. (p. 245)<sup>581</sup>

### Building better personal relationships

Personal relationships may be important protective factors for men's mental health and suicide prevention. In terms of romantic relationships, men have been shown to prefer speaking about mental health concerns with their significant others.<sup>582</sup> Inversely, studies have demonstrated high rates of suicide deaths among men who are separated, pointing to the lack of evidence in existing programming for separated men.<sup>583</sup> Recognizing the risk factors around a history of IPV, studies have focused on prevention programs geared toward men's roles as fathers and parents.<sup>584-587</sup> These studies found that perceptions of fatherhood as a "provider" and "protector" acted as a protective factor.<sup>588</sup> A strengthened sense of purpose and obligation has motivated men to reconsider suicide.<sup>589</sup> Discussions about gender roles and women's equality have also been associated with healthier, more equitable relationships.<sup>590</sup> These programs have the potential to facilitate help seeking in men while mitigating adverse childhood experiences in their existing or potential children.

## Conclusion

Over the last four decades, men have accounted for most suicide deaths in Canada. <sup>591- 593</sup> Experts have suggested that these elevated rates among men are in part due to differences in their experience and expression of depression, poor MHL, lower levels of help seeking and service utilization, and higher levels of mental health stigma, which collectively contribute to high rates of undiagnosed and untreated mental illness. <sup>594- 602</sup> Men are also more likely to use lethal means when attempting suicide (i.e., suffocation, firearms) which significantly increase their risk of dying. <sup>603- 606</sup> Overwhelmingly, the research on mental health and suicide among men shows that the masculine norms they are "expected" or feel pressured to uphold (e.g., strength, toughness, self-reliance, stoicism) feed into negative attitudes, beliefs, and behaviours related to both mental health and the benefits of help seeking (held by men and health-care providers). <sup>607- 610</sup> Given this negative impact, it is recommended that suicide prevention approaches focus on leveraging, reworking, and reframing "masculinity" to allow for greater expression and recognition of emotion as well as help seeking.

This reframing may help de-stigmatize mental illness among men, enhance the quality of healthcare provider interactions, and open new pathways for building better personal relationships.

To be effective in preventing suicide among men, it is also crucial to continue researching male-type depression symptoms, particularly among diverse subgroups, and equip health-care providers with the information and tools they need to screen for and treat them accordingly. Equally important is creating and enhancing MHL resources to help men recognize the signs of mental illness in themselves and others, including possible signs of male-type depression.

It is also clear from the literature that suicide risk among men varies substantially across different subgroups.<sup>611</sup> Men who are First Nations, Inuit, and Métis, are part of a sexual and gender minority group, are immigrants or refugees, are part of a racialized group, or have certain occupations are at elevated risk for suicide.<sup>612-</sup> <sup>620</sup> These groups experience unique and intersecting risk factors related to societal stigma, social exclusion, and exposure to trauma, abuse, and violence, including homophobia, displacement, sexual and physical abuse, and historical and colonial violence.<sup>621-</sup> <sup>634</sup> High rates of substance use, poor access to health and mental health services and education, as well as financial, cultural, and language barriers may compound existing risk factors in these groups.<sup>635-</sup>

<sup>649</sup> Understanding the impact of the social determinants of health on suicide as well as the diverse risk factors among certain subgroups will facilitate the design of appropriate suicide prevention initiatives that are tailored to the unique needs and experiences of these groups.

The findings from this evidence brief reinforce the notion that suicide is a complex and multifactorial phenomenon, and that the risk of suicide varies substantially both across individuals and subgroups. Acknowledging that the pandemic has amplified pre-existing risk factors for suicide in men, particularly among certain subgroups, it is now more crucial than ever to actively engage in suicide prevention for men.

These findings also have broader implications on suicide prevention at the community level, knowing that for every death by suicide, up to 135 people are directly and indirectly affected. <sup>650</sup> For every man that dies by suicide in Canada, many people — including family members, friends, and community members — are left behind. Researchers, health-care providers, and mental health professionals must embrace the concept of resilience in a way that enhances men's choice and desire to live. The design and implementation of appropriate suicide prevention strategies for men — such as awareness campaigns, gatekeeper training, and group-based therapies, and those that aim to decrease barriers to accessing mental health supports among men and those impacted by their suicide — are crucial for men's mental well-being and for successful life promotion and suicide prevention efforts made on their behalf.

### References

<sup>1</sup> Public Health Agency of Canada. (2020). Suicide in Canada: Key statistics [Infographic]. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/healthy-living/suicide-canada-key-statistics-infographic.html</u>

<sup>2</sup> Public Health Agency of Canada. (2020). Suicide in Canada: Key statistics [Infographic].

<sup>3</sup> Statistics Canada. (2022). Leading causes of death, total population by age group (Table 13-10-0394-01). Retrieved Feb. 7, 2022, from <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=1310039401</u>

<sup>4</sup> Freeman, A., Mergl, R., Kohls, E., Székely, A., Gusmao, R., Arensman, E., Koburger, N., Hegerl, U., & Rummel-Kluge, C. (2017). A cross-national study on gender differences in suicide intent. BMC Psychiatry, 17(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1398-8</u>

<sup>5</sup> Hawton, K. (2000). Sex and suicide: Gender differences in suicidal behaviour [Commentary]. British Journal of Psychiatry, 177(6), 484-485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.177.6.484</u>

<sup>6</sup> Canetto, S. S., & Sakinofsky, I. (1998). The gender paradox in suicide. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 28(1), 1-23. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11102320/</u>

<sup>7</sup> Varin, M., Orpana, H. M., Palladino, E., Pollock, N. J., & Baker, M. M. (2021). Trends in suicide mortality in Canada by sex and age group, 1981 to 2017: A population-based time series analysis. *Canadian Journal of* Psychiatry, 66(2), 170-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743720940565</u>

<sup>8</sup> Varin, et al. (2021). Trends in suicide mortality in Canada by sex and age group, 1981 to 2017: A populationbased time series analysis.

<sup>9</sup> World Health Organization. (2014). Preventing suicide: A global imperative. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241564779</u>

<sup>10</sup> Richardson, C., Robb, K. A., & O'Connor, R. C. (2021). A systematic review of suicidal behaviour in men: A narrative synthesis of risk factors. Social Science and Medicine, Article 113831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113831

<sup>11</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021). A systematic review of suicidal behaviour in men: A narrative synthesis of risk factors.
 <sup>12</sup> Statistics Canada. (2021). Census profile, 2016 census. <u>https://tinyurl.com/2p8nkzth</u>

<sup>13</sup> Statistics Canada. (2022). Population estimates, quarterly (Table 17-10-0009-01). Retrieved Feb. 7, 2022, from <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1710000901</u>

<sup>14</sup> Statistics Canada. (2022). Population estimates, quarterly (Table 17-10-0009-01).

<sup>15</sup> Statistics Canada. (2021). Census profile, 2016 census.

<sup>16</sup> Statistics Canada. (2021, June 15). A statistical portrait of Canada's diverse LGBTQ+ communities. *The Daily*. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210615/dq210615a-eng.htm</u>

<sup>17</sup> Standish, K. (2021). A coming wave: Suicide and gender after COVID-19. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 30(1), 114-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09589236.2020.1796608</u>

<sup>18</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Rossnagel, E., Seidler, Z. E., Kealy, D., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Rice, S. M. (2019). Men's depression and suicide [Review]. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21(10), 103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-1088-y</u>

<sup>19</sup> American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5). <u>https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/practice/dsm</u>

<sup>20</sup> Cavanagh, A., Wilson, C. J., Kavanaugh, D. J., & Caputi, P. (2017). Differences in the expression of symptoms in men versus women with depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 25(1), 29-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.000000000000128</u>

<sup>21</sup> Martin, L. A., Neighbors, H. W., & Griffith, D. M. (2013). The experience of symptoms of depression in men vs women: Analysis of the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. JAMA Psychiatry, 70(10), 1100–1106. https://doi.org10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1985 <sup>22</sup> Zajac, I. T., Rice, S., Proeve, M., Kealy, D., Oliffe, J. L., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2020). Suicide risk, psychological distress and treatment preferences in men presenting with prototypical, externalising and mixed depressive symptomology. *Journal of Mental Health*. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2020.1755026

<sup>23</sup> Seidler, Z. E., Dawes, A. J., Rice, S. M., Oliffe, J. L., & Dhillon, H. M. (2016). The role of masculinity in men's helpseeking for depression: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 49, 106-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.09.002</u>

<sup>24</sup> Oliffe, J. L., & Phillips, M. J. (2008). Men, depression and masculinities: A review and recommendations. *Journal of Men's Health*, 5(3), 194-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jomh.2008.03.016</u>

<sup>25</sup> Rice, S. M., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Kealy, D., Seidler, Z. E., Dhillon, H. M., & Oliffe, J. L. (2019). Validity of the Male Depression Risk Scale in a representative Canadian sample: Sensitivity and specificity in identifying men with recent suicide attempt. *Journal of Mental Health*, 28(2), 132-140.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2017.1417565

<sup>26</sup> Magovcevic, M., & Addis. M. E. (2008). The Masculine Depression Scale: Development and psychometric evaluation. Psychology of Men and Masculinity, 9(3), 117-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1524-9220.9.3.117</u>

<sup>27</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016). The role of masculinity in men's help-seeking for depression: A systematic review.

<sup>28</sup> Oliffe, et al. (2008). Men, depression and masculinities: A review and recommendations.

<sup>29</sup> Rice, et al. (2019). Validity of the Male Depression Risk Scale in a representative Canadian sample: Sensitivity and specificity in identifying men with recent suicide attempt.

<sup>30</sup> Magovcevic & Addis. (2008). The Masculine Depression Scale: Development and psychometric evaluation.
 <sup>31</sup> Martin, et al. (2013). The experience of symptoms of depression in men vs women: Analysis of the National Comorbidity Survey Replication.

<sup>32</sup> Martin, et al. (2013).

<sup>33</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>34</sup> Jewkes, R., Morrell, R., Hearn, J., Lundqvist, E., Blackbeard, D., Lindegger, G., Quayle, M., Sikweyiya, Y., & Gottzén, L. (2015). Hegemonic masculinity: Combining theory and practice in gender interventions. *Culture*, Health and Sexuality, 17(Suppl. 2), 112-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2015.1085094</u>

35 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>36</sup> King, T. L., Shields, M., Sojo, V., Daraganova, G., Currier, D., O'Neil, A., King, K., & Milner, A. (2020). Expressions of masculinity and associations with suicidal ideation among young males. BMC Psychiatry, 20, Article 228. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-2475-y

<sup>37</sup> Garfield, C. F., Isacco, A., & Rogers, T. E. (2008). A review of men's health and masculinity. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine, 2(6), 474-487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827608323213</u>

<sup>38</sup> Milner, A., Shields, M., & King, T. (2019). The influence of masculine norms and mental health on health literacy among men: Evidence from the ten to men study. *American Journal of Men*'s *Health*, 13(5), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988319873532</u>

<sup>39</sup> Vogel, D. L., & Heath, P. J. (2016). Men, masculinities, and help-seeking patterns. In Y. J. Wong & S. R. Wester (Eds.), APA handbook of men and masculinities (pp. 685-707). American Psychological Association.

<sup>40</sup> McDermott, R. C., Smith, P. N., Borgogna, N., Booth, N., Stephani, G., & Sevig, T. D. (2018). College students' conformity to masculine role norms and help-seeking intentions for suicidal thoughts. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, 19(3), 340-351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000107</u>

41 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>42</sup> King, et al. (2020). Expressions of masculinity and associations with suicidal ideation among young males.

<sup>43</sup> Garfield, et al. (2008). A review of men's health and masculinity.

<sup>44</sup> Milner, et al. (2019). The influence of masculine norms and mental health on health literacy among men: Evidence from the ten to men study.

<sup>45</sup> Vogel & Heath. (2016). Men, masculinities, and help-seeking patterns.

<sup>46</sup> McDermott, et al. (2018). College students' conformity to masculine role norms and help-seeking intentions for suicidal thoughts.

<sup>47</sup> Moss-Racusin, C. A., Phelan, J. E., & Rudman, L. A. (2010). When men break the gender rules: Status incongruity and backlash against modest men. Psychology of Men and Masculinity, 11(2), 140-151. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018093

48 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>49</sup> Garfield, et al. (2008).

<sup>50</sup> Milner, et al. (2019).

<sup>51</sup> Vogel & Heath. (2016).

<sup>52</sup> McDermott, et al. (2018).

<sup>53</sup> Levant, R. F., & Wimer, D. J. (2014). Masculinity constructs as protective buffers and risk factors for men's health. *American Journal of Men*'s Health, 8(2), 110-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988313494408</u>

<sup>54</sup> Sileo, K. M., & Kershaw, T. S. (2020). Dimensions of masculine norms, depression, and mental health service utilization: Results from a prospective cohort study among emerging adult men in the United States. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 14(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988320906980</u>

<sup>55</sup> Levant & Wimer. (2014). Masculinity constructs as protective buffers and risk factors for men's health.

<sup>56</sup> Public Health Agency of Canada. (2019). Addressing stigma: Towards a more inclusive health system. <u>https://tinyurl.com/yw62kpdf</u>

<sup>57</sup> Yanos, P. T., Roe, D., & Lysaker, P. H. (2010). The impact of illness identity on recovery from severe mental illness. American Journal of Psychiatric Rehabilitation, 13(2), 73-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15487761003756860</u>

<sup>58</sup> American Psychiatric Association. (2022). Stigma, prejudice and discrimination against people with mental illness. <u>https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/stigma-and-discrimination</u>

<sup>59</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Gordon, S. J., Creighton, G., Kelly, M. T., Black, N., & Mackenzie, C. (2016). Stigma in male depression and suicide: A Canadian sex comparison study. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 52(3), 302-310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-015-9986-x</u>

<sup>60</sup> Lynch, L., Long, M., & Moorhead, A.. (2018). Young men, help-seeking, and mental health services: Exploring barriers and solutions. *American Journal of Men*'s Health, 12(1), 138-149. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988315619469

<sup>61</sup> Clement, S., Schauman, O., Graham, T., Maggioni, F., Evans-Lacko, S., Bezborodovs, N., Morgan, C., Rüsch, Brown, J. S. L., & Thornicroft, G. (2015). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(1), 11-27. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291714000129

<sup>62</sup> Oliffe, et al. (2016). Stigma in male depression and suicide: A Canadian sex comparison study.

<sup>63</sup> Jorm, A. F., Korten, A. E., Jacomb, P. A., Christensen, H., Rodgers, B., & Pollit, P. (1997). Public beliefs about causes and risk factors for depression and schizophrenia. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 32(3), 143-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00794613</u>

<sup>64</sup> Gibbons, R. J., Thorsteinsson, E. B., & Loi, N. M. (2015). Beliefs and attitudes towards mental illness: An examination of the sex differences in mental health literacy in a community sample. *PeerJ*, 3, Article e1004. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1004</u>

65 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>66</sup> Milner, et al. (2019).

<sup>67</sup> Milner, et al. (2019).

<sup>68</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Hannah-Leith, M. N., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Black, N., Mackenzie, C., Lohan, M, & Creighton, G. (2016). Men's depression and suicide literacy: A nationally representative Canadian survey. *Journal of Mental Health*, 25(6), 520-526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2016.1177770</u>

<sup>69</sup> Bonabi, H., Müller, M., Ajdacic-Gross, V., Eisele, J., Rodgers, S., Seifritz, E., Rössler, W., & Rüsch, N. (2016). Mental health literacy, attitudes to help seeking, and perceived need as predictors of mental health service use: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 204(4), 321-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0000000000000488</u>

<sup>70</sup> Coles, M. E., & Coleman, S. L. (2010). Barriers to treatment seeking for anxiety disorders: Initial data on the role of mental health literacy. *Depression and Anxiety*, 27(1), 63-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20620</u>

<sup>71</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>72</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>73</sup> Seidler, Z. E., Wilson, M. J., Kealy, D., Oliffe, J. L., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Rice, S. M. (2021). Men's dropout from mental health services: Results from a survey of Australian men across the life span. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 15(3), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/15579883211014776</u>

<sup>74</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>75</sup> Oliffe & Phillips. (2008). Men, depression and masculinities: A review and recommendations.

<sup>76</sup> Rice, S. M., Oliffe, J. L., Kealy, D., Seidler, Z. E., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2020). Men's help-seeking for depression: Attitudinal and structural barriers in symptomatic men. *Journal of Primary Care and Community Health*, 11, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1177/2150132720921686

<sup>77</sup> Cleary, A. (2017). Help-seeking patterns and attitudes to treatment amongst men who attempted suicide. *Journal of Mental Health*, 26(3), 220-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09638237.2016.1149800</u>

<sup>78</sup> Cleary. (2017). Help-seeking patterns and attitudes to treatment amongst men who attempted suicide.

<sup>79</sup> Seidler, et al. (2021). Men's dropout from mental health services: Results from a survey of Australian men across the life span.

<sup>80</sup> Seidler, Z. E., Rice, S. M., Kealy, D., Oliffe, J. L., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2020). Once bitten, twice shy: Dissatisfaction with previous therapy and its implication for future help-seeking among men. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 55(4), 255-263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0091217420905182</u>

<sup>81</sup> Seidler, et al., (2020). Once bitten, twice shy: Dissatisfaction with previous therapy and its implication for future help-seeking among men.

<sup>82</sup> Schaffer, A., Sinyor, M., Kurdyak, P., Vigod, S., Sareen, J., Reis, C., Green, D., Bolton, J., Rhodes, A., Grigoriadis, S., Cairney, J., & Cheung, A. (2016). Population-based analysis of health care contacts among suicide decedents: Identifying opportunities for more targeted suicide prevention strategies. *World Psychiatry*, 15(2), 135-145. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20321

<sup>83</sup> Stene-Larsen, K., & Reneflot, A. (2019). Contact with primary and mental health care prior to suicide: A systematic review of the literature from 2000 to 2017. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 47(1), 9-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494817746274</u>

<sup>84</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Ferlatte, O., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Seidler, Z. E., Kealy, D., & Rice, S. M. (2021). How to save a life: Vital clues from men who have attempted suicide. *Qualitative Health Research*, 31(3), 415-429. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732320975747

<sup>85</sup> Oliffe, Ferlatte, et al. (2021). How to save a life: Vital clues from men who have attempted suicide.

<sup>86</sup> Oliffe, Ferlatte, et al. (2021).

<sup>87</sup> Schaffer, et al. (2016). Population-based analysis of health care contacts among suicide decedents: Identifying opportunities for more targeted suicide prevention strategies.

<sup>88</sup> Stene-Larsen & Reneflot. (2019). Contact with primary and mental health care prior to suicide: A systematic review of the literature from 2000 to 2017.

<sup>89</sup> Stene-Larsen & Reneflot. (2019).

- 90 Seidler, et al. (2016).
- <sup>91</sup> Vogel & Heath. (2016).
- <sup>92</sup> McDermott, et al. (2018).
- 93 Seidler, et al. (2021).
- 94 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>95</sup> Hoy, S. (2012). Beyond men behaving badly: A meta-ethnography of men's perspectives on psychological distress and help seeking. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 11(3), 202–226. https://doi.org/10.3149/jmh.1103.202

<sup>96</sup> Affleck, W., Carmichael, V., & Whitley, R. (2018). Men's mental health: Social determinants and implications for services. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 63(9), 581-589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743718762388</u>

<sup>97</sup> Affleck, et al. (2018). Men's mental health: Social determinants and implications for services.

<sup>98</sup> Bostwick, J. M., Pabbati, C., Geske, J. R., & McKean, A. J. (2016). Suicide attempt as a risk factor for completed suicide: Even more lethal than we knew. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 173(11), 1094-1100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.15070854</u> <sup>99</sup> Persett, P. S., Grimholt, T. K., Ekeberg, O., Jacobsen, D., & Myhren, H. (2018). Patients admitted to hospital after suicide attempt with violent methods compared to patients with deliberate self-poisoning: A study of background variables, somatic and psychiatric health and suicidal behavior. BMC Psychiatry, 18(1), Article 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1602-5

<sup>100</sup> Bilban, M., & Škibin, L. (2005). Presence of alcohol in suicide victims. Forensic Science International, 147(Suppl.), S9-S12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2004.09.085

<sup>101</sup> Cibis, A., Mergl, R., Bramesfeld, A., Althaus, D., Niklewski, G., Schmidtke, A., & Hegerl, U. (2012). Preference of lethal methods is not the only cause for higher suicide rates in males. Journal of Affective Disorders, 136(1-2), 9-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.08.032

<sup>102</sup> Liu, L., Capaldi, C. A., Orpana, H. M., Kaplan, M. S., & Tonmyr, L. (2021). Changes over time in means of suicide in Canada: An analysis of mortality data from 1981 to 2018. CMAJ, 193(10), E331-E338. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmai.202378

<sup>103</sup> Bostwick, et al. (2016). Suicide attempt as a risk factor for completed suicide: Even more lethal than we knew.

<sup>104</sup> Cibis, et al. (2012). Preference of lethal methods is not the only cause for higher suicide rates in males.

<sup>105</sup> Mergl, R., Koburger, N., Heinrichs, K., Székely, A., Ditta Toth, M., Coyne, J., Quintão, S., Arensman, E., Coffey, C., Maxwell, M., Värnik, A., van Audenhove, C., McDaid, D., Sarchiapone, M., Schmidtke, A., Genz, A., Gusmão, R., & Hegerl, U. (2015). What are reasons for the large gender differences in the lethality of suicidal acts? An epidemiological analysis in four European countries. PLOS ONE, 10(7), Article e0129062. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129062

<sup>106</sup> Mergl, et al. (2015). What are reasons for the large gender differences in the lethality of suicidal acts? An epidemiological analysis in four European countries.

<sup>107</sup> Gvion, Y., & Levi-Belz, Y. (2018). Serious suicide attempts: Systematic review of psychological risk factors. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 9, Article 56. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00056

<sup>108</sup> Sørensen, E. H., Thorgaard, M. V., & Østergaard, S. D. (2020). Male depressive traits in relation to violent suicides or suicide attempts: A systematic review. Journal of Affective Disorders, 262, 55-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.10.054

<sup>109</sup> Sher, L. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on suicide rates. QJM: An International Journal of Medicine, 113(10), 707-712. https://doi.org/10.1093/gjmed/hcaa202

<sup>110</sup> Government of Canada. (2016). Working together to prevent suicide in Canada: The 2016 progress report on the federal framework for suicide prevention. https://tinyurl.com/ycymrjz6 <sup>111</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>112</sup> Lynch, F. L., Peterson, E. L., Lu, C. Y., Hu, Y., Rossom, R. C., Waitzfelder, B. E., Owen-Smith, A. A., Hubley, S., Prabhakar, D., Keoki Williams, L., Beck, A., Simon, G. E., & Ahmedani, B. K. (2020). Substance use disorders and risk of suicide in a general US population: A case control study, Addiction Science and Clinical Practice, 15, Article 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-020-0181-1

<sup>113</sup> Borges, G., Bagge, C. L., Cherpital, C. J., Conner, K. R., Orozco, R., & Rossow, I. (2017). A meta-analysis of acute use of alcohol and the risk of suicide attempt. Psychological Medicine, 47(5), 949-957. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716002841

<sup>114</sup> Holmstrand, C., Bogren, M., Mattisson, C., & Brådvik, L. (2015). Long-term suicide risk in no, one or more mental disorders: The Lundby Study 1947-1997. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 132(6), 459-469. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12506

<sup>115</sup> Poorolajal, J., Haghtalab, T., Farhadi, M., & Darvishi, N. (2016). Substance use disorder and risk of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and suicide death: A meta-analysis. Journal of Public Health, 38(3), e282-e291. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdv148

<sup>116</sup> Yoshimasu, K., Kiyohara, C., & Miyashita, K. (2008). Suicidal risk factors and completed suicide: Meta-analyses based on psychological autopsy studies. Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine, 13(5), 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12199-008-0037-x

<sup>117</sup> Bohnert, K. M., Ilgen, M. A., Louzon, S., McCkarthy, J. F., & Katz, I. R. (2017). Substance use disorders and the risk of suicide mortality among men and women in the US Veterans Health Administration. Addiction, 112(7), 1193-1201. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13774

<sup>118</sup> Sørensen, et al. (2020). Male depressive traits in relation to violent suicides or suicide attempts: A systematic review.

<sup>119</sup> Sher, L. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on suicide rates.

<sup>120</sup> Borges, et al. (2017). A meta-analysis of acute use of alcohol and the risk of suicide attempt.

<sup>121</sup> Standish, K. (2021). A coming wave: Suicide and gender after COVID-19.

<sup>122</sup> Darvishi, N., Farhadi, M., Haghtalab, T., & Poorolajal, J. (2015). Alcohol-related risk of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and completed suicide: A meta-analysis. PLOS ONE, 10(5), Article e0126870. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0241874

<sup>123</sup> Rehm, J., & Shield, K. D. (2019). Global burden of disease and the impact of mental and addictive disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21, Article 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-0997-0</u>

<sup>124</sup> Kaplan, M. S., McFarland, B. H., Huguet, N., Conner, K., Caetano, R., Giesbrecht, N., & Nolte, K. B. (2013). Acute alcohol intoxication and suicide: A gender-stratified analysis of the National Violent Death Reporting System. BMJ Injury Prevention, 19(1), 38-43. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/injuryprev-2012-040317</u>

<sup>125</sup> Lynch, et al. (2020). Substance use disorders and risk of suicide in a general US population: A case control study.

<sup>126</sup> Holmstrand, et al. (2015). Long-term suicide risk in no, one or more mental disorders: The Lundby Study 1947-1997.

<sup>127</sup> Bohnert, et al. (2017). Substance use disorders and the risk of suicide mortality among men and women in the US Veterans Health Administration.

<sup>128</sup> Marchand, K., Pallis, H., Fikowski, J., Harrison, S., Spittal, P., Schechter, M. T., & Oviedo-Joekes, E. (2017). The role of gender in suicidal ideation among long-term opioid users. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62(7), 465-472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743717711173</u>

<sup>129</sup> Darke, S., & Ross, J. (2002). Suicide among heroin users: Rates, risk factors and methods. Addiction, 97(11), 1383-1394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00214.x</u>

<sup>130</sup> Darke & Ross. (2002). Suicide among heroin users: Rates, risk factors and methods.

<sup>131</sup> Rizk, M. M., Herzog, S., Dugad, S., & Stanley, B. (2021). Suicide risk and addiction: The impact of alcohol and opioid use disorders. *Current Addiction Reports*, 8, 194-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-021-00361-z</u>

<sup>132</sup> Statistics Canada. (2019). Changes in life expectancy by selected causes of death, 2017. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/190530/dq190530d-cansim-eng.htm

<sup>133</sup> Public Health Agency of Canada. (2018). National report: Apparent opioid-related deaths in Canada. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/healthy-living/national-report-apparent-opioid-related-deaths-released-march-2018.html</u>

<sup>134</sup> Belzak, L., B., & Halverson, J. (2018). Evidence synthesis – The opioid crisis in Canada: A national perspective. Public Health Agency of Canada. <u>https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.38.6.02</u>

<sup>135</sup> Belzak & Halverson. (2018). Evidence synthesis – The opioid crisis in Canada: A national perspective.
 <sup>136</sup> Belzak & Halverson. (2018).

<sup>137</sup> Oquendo, M. A., & Volkow, N. D. (2018). Suicide: A silent contributor to opioid-overdose deaths. New England Journal of Medicine, 378(17), 1567-1569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1801417</u>

<sup>138</sup> Oquendo & Volkow. (2018). Suicide: A silent contributor to opioid-overdose deaths.

<sup>139</sup> Borges, G., Bagge, C. L., & Orozco, R. (2016). A literature review and meta-analyses of cannabis use and suicidality. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 195, 63-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.02.007</u>

<sup>140</sup> Borges, et al. (2016). A literature review and meta-analyses of cannabis use and suicidality.

<sup>141</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>142</sup> Ernst, M., Klein, E. M., Beuteal, M. E., & Bräler, E. (2021). Gender-specific associations of loneliness and suicidal ideation in a representative population sample: Young, lonely men are particularly at risk. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 294, 63-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.06.085</u>

<sup>143</sup> Solmi, M., Veronese, N., Galvano, D., Favaro, A., Ostinelli, E. G., Noventa, V., Favaretto, E., Tudor, F., Finessi, M., Shin, J. I., Smith, L., Koyanagi, A., Cester, A., Bolzetta, F., Cotroneo, A., Maggi, S., Demurtas, J., De Leo, D., & Trabucchi, A. (2020). Factors associated with loneliness: An umbrella review of observational studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 271, 131-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.075</u>

<sup>144</sup> Miranda-Mendizabal, A., Castellvi, P., Parés-Badell, O., Alayo, I., Almerara, J., Alonso, I., Blasco, M. J., Cebrià, A., Gabilondo, A., Gili, M., Larares, C., Piqueras, J. A., Rodriguez-Jimènez, T., Rodriguez-Marin, J., Roca, M., Soto-Sanz, V., Vilagut, G., & Alonso, J. (2019). Gender differences in suicidal behavior in adolescents and young adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *International Journal of Public Health*, 64(2), 265-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-018-1196-1</u>

<sup>145</sup> Fredrick, S. S., Demaray, M. K., Malecki, C. K., & Dorio, N. B. (2018). Can social support buffer the association between depression and suicidal ideation in adolescent boys and girls? *Psychology in the Schools*, 55(5), 490-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22125</u>

<sup>146</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Creighton, G., Robertson, S., Broom, A., Jenkins, E. K., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Ferlatte, O. (2017). Injury, interiority, and isolation in men's suicidality. *American Journal of Men*'s Health, 11(4), 888-899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988316679576</u>

<sup>147</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Broom, A., Popa, M., Jenkins, E. K., Rice, S. M., Ferlatte, O., & Rossnagel, E. (2019). Unpacking social isolation in men's suicidality. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(3), 315-327. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318800003

<sup>148</sup> Evans, R., Scourfield, J., & Moore, G. (2016). Gender, relationship breakdown, and suicide risk: A review of research in Western countries. *Journal of Family Issues*, 37(16), 2239–2264. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X14562608

149 Dishandrar at al (2021)

<sup>149</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>150</sup> Calati, R., Ferrari, C., Brittner, M., Oasi, O., Olie, E., Carvalho, A. F., & Courtet, P. (2019). Suicidal thoughts and behaviors and social isolation: A narrative review of the literature. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 245, 653-667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.022</u>

<sup>151</sup> Yip, P. S. F., Yousuf, S., Chan, C. H., Yung, T., & Wu, K. C.-C. (2015). The roles of culture and gender in the relationship between divorce and suicide risk: A meta-analysis. Social Science and Medicine, 128, 87-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.12.034

<sup>152</sup> Kazan, D., Calear, A. L., & Batterham, P. J. (2016). The impact of intimate partner relationships on suicidal thoughts and behaviours: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 190, 585-598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.003</u>

<sup>153</sup> Crump, C., Sundquist, K., Sundquist J., & Winkleby, M. A. (2014). Sociodemographic, psychiatric and somatic risk factors for suicide: A Swedish national cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(2), 279–289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713000810</u>

<sup>154</sup> Kazan, et al. (2016). The impact of intimate partner relationships on suicidal thoughts and behaviours: A systematic review.

<sup>155</sup> Kposowa, A. J. (2003). Divorce and suicide risk [Correspondence]. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 57(12), 993. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech.57.12.993</u>

<sup>156</sup> Dehara, M., Wells, M. B., Sjöqvist, H., Kosidou, K., Dalman, C., & Sörberg Wallin, A. (2021). Parenthood is associated with lower suicide risk: A register-based cohort study of 1.5 million Swedes. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 143(3), 206-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13240</u>

<sup>157</sup> Shaw, R. J., Cullen, B., Graham, N., Lyall, D. M., Mackay, D., Okolie, C., Pearsall, R., Ward, J., John, A., & Smith, D. J. (2021). Living alone, loneliness and lack of emotional support as predictors of suicide and self-harm: A nine-year follow up of the UK Biobank cohort. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279, 316-323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.026

<sup>158</sup> Oliffe, et al. (2019). Unpacking social isolation in men's suicidality.

<sup>159</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>160</sup> Yoshimasu, et al. (2008). Suicidal risk factors and completed suicide: Meta-analyses based on psychological autopsy studies.

<sup>161</sup> Crump, et al. (2014). Sociodemographic, psychiatric and somatic risk factors for suicide: A Swedish national cohort study.

<sup>162</sup> Ribeiro, J. D., Huang, X., Fox, K. R., & Franklin, J. C. (2018). Depression and hopelessness as risk factors for suicide ideation, attempts and death: Meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 212(5), 279–286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2018.27</u>

<sup>163</sup> Stewart, J. G., Esposito, E. C., Glenn, C. R., Gilman, S. E., Pridgen, B., Gold, J., & Auerbach, R. P. (2017). Adolescent self-injurers: Comparing non-ideators, suicide ideators, and suicide attempters. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 84, 105-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.09.031</u>

<sup>164</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>165</sup> Crump, et al. (2014).

- <sup>166</sup> Crump, et al. (2014).
- <sup>167</sup> Holmstrand, et al. (2015).
- <sup>168</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).
- <sup>169</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>170</sup> Rice, S. M., Kealy, D., Seidler, Z. E., Walton, C. C., Oliffe, J. L., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2021). Male-type depression symptoms in young men with a history of childhood sexual abuse and current hazardous alcohol use. *Psychiatry Research*, 304, Article 114110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114110</u>

<sup>171</sup> Afifi, T. O., MacMillan, H. L., Boyle, M., Taillieu, T., Cheung, K., & Sareen, J. (2014). Child abuse and mental disorders in Canada. CMAJ, 186(9), E324-E332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.131792</u>

<sup>172</sup> Turner, S., Taillieu, T., Cheung, K., & Afifi, T. O. (2017). The relationship between childhood sexual abuse and mental health outcomes among males: Results from a nationally representative United States sample. *Child* Abuse and Neglect, 66, 64-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.01.018</u>

<sup>173</sup> Rice, S. M., Kealy, D., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Seidler, Z. E., Denehy, L., & Oliffe, J. L. (2020). The cost of bottling it up: Emotion suppression as a mediator in the relationship between anger and depression among men with prostate cancer. *Cancer Management and Research*, 12, 1039–1046. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S237770</u>

<sup>174</sup> Rice, S. M., Oliffe, J. L., Kealy, D., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2018). Male depression subtypes and suicidality: Latent profile analysis of internalizing and externalizing symptoms in a representative Canadian sample. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 206(3), 169–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0000000000000739</u>

<sup>175</sup> Rice, et al. (2018). Male depression subtypes and suicidality: Latent profile analysis of internalizing and externalizing symptoms in a representative Canadian sample.

<sup>176</sup> Bostwick, et al. (2016).

<sup>177</sup> Hedegaard, H., Curtin, S. C., & Warner, M. (2020). *Increase in suicide mortality in the United States*, 1999–2018 (NCHS Data brief No. 362). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db362.htm</u>

<sup>178</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Kelly, M. T., Gonzales Montaner, G., Links, P. S., Kealy, D., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2021). Segmenting or summing the parts? A scoping review of male suicide research in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 66(5), 433-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/07067437211000631</u>

<sup>179</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021). Segmenting or summing the parts? A scoping review of male suicide research in Canada.

<sup>180</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>181</sup> Public Health Agency of Canada. (2020).

<sup>182</sup> Statistics Canada. (2022). Leading causes of death, total population by age group (Table 13-10-0394-01).

<sup>183</sup> Hedegaard,

- <sup>184</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).
- 185 Crump, et al. (2014).
- <sup>186</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>187</sup> Crump, et al. (2014).

<sup>188</sup> Han, B., Kott, P. S., Hughes, A., McKeon, R., Blanco, C., & Compton, W. M. (2016). Estimating the rates of deaths by suicide among adults who attempt suicide in the United States. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 77, 125-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.03.002</u>

<sup>189</sup> Phillips, J. A., & Hempstead, K. (2017). Differences in U.S. suicide rates by educational attainment, 2000-2014. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 53(4), E123-E130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.04.010</u>

<sup>190</sup> Assari, S., Schatten, H. T., Arias, S. A., Miller, I. W., Camargo, C. A., & Boureaux, E. D. (2019). Higher educational attainment is associated with lower risk of a future suicide attempt among non-Hispanic whites but not non-Hispanic blacks. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 6(5), 1001-1010. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-019-00601-z <sup>191</sup> Crump, et al. (2014).

<sup>192</sup> Phillips & Hempstead. (2017).

<sup>193</sup> Lorant, V. Kapadia, D., & Perelman, J. (2021). Socioeconomic disparities in suicide: Causation or confounding? PLOS ONE, 16(1), Article e0243895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0243895</u>

<sup>194</sup> Kim, J. L., Kim, J. M., Choi, Y., Lee, T.-L., & Park, E.-C. (2016). Effect of socioeconomic status on the linkage between suicidal ideation and suicide attempts. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 46(5), 588-597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12242</u>

<sup>195</sup> Lorant, et al. (2021). Socioeconomic disparities in suicide: Causation or confounding?

<sup>196</sup> Phillips & Hempstead. (2017).

<sup>197</sup> Lorant, et al. (2021).

<sup>198</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>199</sup> Crump, et al. (2014).

<sup>200</sup> Coope, C., Donavan, J., Wilson, C., Barnes, M., Metcalfe, C., Hollingworth, W., Kapur, N., Hawton, K., & Gunnell, D. (2015). Characteristics of people dying by suicide after job loss, financial difficulties and other economic stressors during a period of recession (2010–2011): A review of coroners' records. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 183, 98-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.04.045</u>

<sup>201</sup> Oliffe, J. L., & Han, C. S. E. (2014). Beyond workers' compensation: Men's mental health in and out of work. American Journal of Men's Health, 8(1), 45-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988313490786</u>

<sup>202</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Rasmussen, B., Bottorff, J. L., Kelly, M. T., Galdas, P. M., Phinney, A. & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2013). Masculinities, work, and retirement among older men who experience depression. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23(12), 1626-1637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732313509408</u>

<sup>203</sup> Ostamo, A., Lahelma, E., & Lönnqvist, J. (2001). Transitions of employment status among suicide attempters during a severe economic recession. Social Science and Medicine, 52(11), 1741-1750. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(00)00294-x

<sup>204</sup> Wilson, J. M., Lee, J., Fitzgerald, H. N., Oosterhoff, B., Sevi, B., & Shook, N. J. (2020). Job insecurity and financial concern during the COVID-19 pandemic are associated with worse mental health. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 62(9), 686-691. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000000001962</u>

<sup>205</sup> McIntyre, R. S., & Lee, Y. (2020). Projected increases in suicide in Canada as a consequence of COVID-19. Psychiatry Research, 290, Article 113104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113104</u>

<sup>206</sup> Chang, S.-S., Stuckler, D., Yip, P., & Gunnell, D. (2013). Impact of 2008 global economic crisis on suicide: Time trend study in 54 countries. BMJ, 347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f5239</u>

<sup>207</sup> Norström, T., & Grönqvist, H. (2015). The great recession, unemployment and suicide. *Journal of Epidemiology* and Community Health, 69(2), 110-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2014-204602</u>

<sup>208</sup> Barr, B., Taylor-Robinson, D., Scott-Samuel, A., McKee, M., & Stuckler, D. (2012). Suicides associated with the 2008-10 economic recession in England: Time trend analysis. BMJ, 345, Article e5142. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e5142

<sup>209</sup> Reeves, A., McKee, M., & Stuckler, D. (2014). Economic suicides in the great recession in Europe and North America. British Journal of Psychiatry, 205(3), 246-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.144766</u>

<sup>210</sup> Mäki, N., & Martikainen, P. (2012). A register-based study on excess suicide mortality among unemployed men and women during different levels of unemployment in Finland. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community* Health, 66(4), 302-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2009.105908</u>

<sup>211</sup> Milner, A., Currier, D., LaMontagne, A. D., Spittal, M., J., & Pirkis, J. (2017). Psychosocial job stressors and thoughts about suicide among males: A cross-sectional study from the first wave of the Ten to Men cohort. *Public Health*, 147, 72-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2017.02.003</u>

<sup>212</sup> Ostamo, et al. (2001).

<sup>213</sup> Ostamo, et al. (2001).

<sup>214</sup> Ostamo, et al. (2001).

<sup>215</sup> Lundin, A., Lundberg, I., Allebeck, P., & Hemmingsson, T. (2012). Unemployment and suicide in the Stockholm population: A register-based study on 771,068 men and women. *Public Health*, 126(5), 371-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2012.01.020</u> <sup>216</sup> Bor, J., Basu. S., Coutts, A., McKee, M., & Stuckler, D. (2013). Alcohol use during the Great Recession of 2008–2009. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 48(3), 343-348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agt002</u>

<sup>217</sup> Kaplan, M. S., Huguet, N., Caetano, R., Geisbrecht, N., Kerr, W. C., & McFarland, B. H. (2015). Economic contraction, alcohol intoxication and suicide: Analysis of the National Violent Death Reporting System. *Injury Prevention*, 21(1), 35-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/injuryprev-2014-041215</u>

<sup>218</sup> Kerr, W. C., Kaplan, M. S., Huguet, N., Caetano, R., Geisbrecht, N., & McFarland, B. H. (2017). Economic recession, alcohol, and suicide rates: Comparative effects of poverty, foreclosure, and job loss. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 52(4), 469-475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.09.021</u>

<sup>219</sup> Frasquilho, D., Matos, M. G., Salonna, F., Guerreiro, D., Storti, C. C., Gaspar, T., Caldas-de-Almeida, J. (2015). Mental health outcomes in times of economic recession: A systematic literature review. BMC *Public Health*, 16(1), Article 115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-2720-v</u>

<sup>220</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>221</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>222</sup> Poon, C. S., & Saewyc, E. M. (2009). Out yonder: Sexual-minority adolescents in rural communities in British Columbia. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(1), 118-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.122945</u>

<sup>223</sup> DesMeules, M., Pong, R. W., Read Guernsey, J., Wang, F., Luo, W., & Dressler, M. P. (2012). Rural health status and determinants in Canada. In J. C. Kulig, & A. M. Williams (Eds.), *Health in rural Canada* (pp. 23-43). <u>https://www.ubcpress.ca/asset/9079/1/9780774821728.pdf</u>

 <sup>224</sup> Poon and Saewyc. (2009). Out yonder: Sexual-minority adolescents in rural communities in British Columbia.
 <sup>225</sup> Creighton, G., Oliffe, J., Ogrodniczuk, J., & Frank, B. (2017). "You've gotta be that tough crust exterior man": Depression and suicide in rural-based men. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(12), 1882-1891. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317718148

<sup>226</sup> Creighton, et al. (2017). "You've gotta be that tough crust exterior man": Depression and suicide in ruralbased men.

<sup>227</sup> Allan, J. A., Waddell, C. M., Herron, R. V., & Roger, K. (2019). Are rural prairie masculinities hegemonic masculinities? NORMA, 14(1), 35-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18902138.2018.1519092</u>

<sup>228</sup> Creighton, et al. (2017).

<sup>229</sup> Barry, R., Rehm, J., de Oliveria, C., Gozdyra, P., & Kurdyak, P. (2020). Rurality and risk of suicide attempts and death by suicide among people living in four English-speaking high-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 65(7), 441-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743720902655</u>

<sup>230</sup> Mohatt, N. V., Kreisel, C. J., Hoffberg, A. S., Wendleton, L., & Beehler, S. J. (2021). A systematic review of factors impacting suicide risk among rural adults in the United States. *Journal of Rural Health*, 37(3), 565-575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12532</u>

<sup>231</sup> Rhew, I. C., Hawkins, J. D., & Oesterle, S. (2011). Drug use and risk among youth in different rural contexts. Health and Place, 17(3), 775-783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.02.003</u>

<sup>232</sup> Creighton, G. M., Oliffe, J. L., Lohan, M., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Palm, E. (2017). "Things I did not know": Retrospectives on a Canadian rural male youth suicide using an instrumental photovoice case study. *Health*, 21(6), 616-632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459316638542</u>

<sup>233</sup> Ewert, R. (2021). "A country boy can survive:" Rural culture and male-targeted suicide prevention messaging. Social Science and Medicine, 289, Article 114439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114439</u>

<sup>234</sup> Ayano, G., Tsegay, L., Abraha, M., & Yohannes, K. (2019). Suicidal ideation and attempt among homeless people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 90(4), 829-842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-019-09667-8

<sup>235</sup> Rhoades, H., Rusow, J. A., Bond, D., Lanteigne, A., Fulginiti, A., & Goldbach, J. T. (2018). Homelessness, mental health and suicidality among LGBTQ youth accessing crisis services. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 49(4), 643-651. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-018-0780-1</u>

<sup>236</sup> Sinyor, M., Kozloff, N., Reis, C., & Schaffer, A. (2017). An observational study of suicide death in homeless and precariously housed people in Toronto. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62(7), 501-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743717705354</u>

<sup>237</sup> Ayano, et al. (2019). Suicidal ideation and attempt among homeless people: A systematic review and metaanalysis. <sup>238</sup> Sinyor, et al. (2017). An observational study of suicide death in homeless and precariously housed people in Toronto

<sup>239</sup> Sinyor, et al. (2017).

<sup>240</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>241</sup> Wolford-Clevenger, C., Vann, N. C., & Smith, P. N. (2016). The association of partner abuse types and suicidal ideation among men and women college students. *Violence and Victims*, 31(3), 471-485. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-14-00083

<sup>242</sup> Devries, K. M., Mak. J. Y., Bacchus, L. J., Child, J. C., Falder, G., Petzold, M., Astbury, J., & Watts, C. H. (2013). Intimate partner violence and incident depressive symptoms and suicide attempts: A systematic review of longitudinal studies. PLOS *Medicine*, 10(5), Article e1001439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001439</u>

<sup>243</sup> Sugg, N. (2015). Intimate partner violence: Prevalence, health consequences, and intervention. *Medical Clinics of North America*, 99(3), 629-649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2015.01.012</u>

<sup>244</sup> Ferlatte, O., Oliffe, J. L., Salway, T., Broom, A., Bungay, V., & Rice, S. (2019). Using photovoice to understand suicidality among gay, bisexual, and two-spirit men. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(5), 1529-1541. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-019-1433-6

<sup>245</sup> Genuchi, M. C. (2019). The role of masculinity and depressive symptoms in predicting suicidal ideation in homeless men. Archives of Suicide Research, 23(2), 289-311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2018.1428705</u>
 <sup>246</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>247</sup> Oliffe & Han. (2014). Beyond workers' compensation: Men's mental health in and out of work.

<sup>248</sup> Oliffe, et al. (2013). Masculinities, work, and retirement among older men who experience depression.
 <sup>249</sup> Ostamo, et al. (2001).

<sup>250</sup> Wilson, et al. (2020). Job insecurity and financial concern during the COVID-19 pandemic are associated with worse mental health.

<sup>251</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2019). Using photovoice to understand suicidality among gay, bisexual, and two-spirit men.

<sup>252</sup> Bommersbach, T. J., Stefanovics, E. A., Rhee, T. G., Tsai, J., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2020). Suicide attempts and homelessness: Timing of attempts among recently homeless, past homeless, and never homeless adults. *Psychiatric Services*, 71(12), 1225-1231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.202000073</u>

<sup>253</sup> Lee, K. H., Jun, J. S., Kim, Y. J., Roh, S., Moon, S. S., Bukonda, N., & Hines, L. (2017). Mental health, substance abuse, and suicide among homeless adults. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work*, 14(4), 229-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2017.1316221</u>

<sup>254</sup> Lee, et al. (2017). Mental health, substance abuse, and suicide among homeless adults.

<sup>255</sup> Torchalla, I., Strehlau, V., Li, K., Schuetz, C., & Krausz, M. (2012). The association between childhood maltreatment subtypes and current suicide risk among homeless men and women. *Child Maltreatment*, 17(2), 132–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559512439350</u>

<sup>256</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>257</sup> Bostwick, et al. (2016).

<sup>258</sup> Stenbacka, M., & Jokinen, J. (2015). Violent and non-violent methods of attempted and completed suicide in Swedish young men: The role of early risk factors. BMC Psychiatry, 15, Article 196. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-015-0570-2

<sup>259</sup> Irigoyen, M., Porras-Segovia, A., Galván, L., Puigdevall, M., Giner, L., De Leon, S., & Baca-Garcia, E. (2019). Predictors of re-attempt in a cohort of suicide attempters: A survival analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 247, 20-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.050</u>

<sup>260</sup> Finkelstein, Y., Macdonald, E. M., Hollands, S., Sivilotti, M. L. A., Hutson, J. R., Mamdani, M. M., Koren, G., & Juurlink, D. N. (2015). Risk of suicide following deliberate self-poisoning. JAMA Psychiatry, 72(6), 570-575. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.3188

<sup>261</sup> Stern, T. A., Rosenbaum, J. F., Fava, M., Biederman, J., & Rauch, S. L. (2008). Massachusetts general hospital comprehensive clinical psychiatry. Elsevier Health Sciences.

<sup>262</sup> Horwitz, A. G., Czyz, E. K., King, C.A. (2015). Predicting future suicide attempts among adolescent and emerging adult psychiatric emergency patients. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 44(5), 751-761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2014.910789</u>

<sup>263</sup> Finkelstein, et al. (2015). Risk of suicide following deliberate self-poisoning.

<sup>264</sup> Fuller-Thomson, E., West, K. J., & Baiden, P. (2019). The tide does turn: Predictors of remission from suicidal ideation and attempt among Canadians who previously attempted suicide. *Psychiatry Research*, 274, 313-321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.02.030</u>

<sup>265</sup> Bostwick, et al. (2016).

<sup>266</sup> Bostwick, et al. (2016).

<sup>267</sup> Bostwick, et al. (2016).

<sup>268</sup> Finkelstein, et al. (2015).

<sup>269</sup> Aguglia, A., Solano, P., Parisi, V. M., Asaro, P., Caprino, M., Trabucco, A., Amerio, A., Amore, M., & Serafini, G. (2020). Predictors of relapse in high lethality suicide attempters: A six-month prospective study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 271, 328-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.04.006</u>

<sup>270</sup> Large, M., Sharma, S., Cannon, E., Ryan, C., & Nielssen, O. (2011). Risk factors for suicide within a year of discharge from psychiatric hospital: A systematic meta-analysis. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 45(8), 619–628. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00048674.2011.590465</u>

<sup>271</sup> Finkelstein, et al. (2015).

<sup>272</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>273</sup> Afifi, et al. (2014). Child abuse and mental disorders in Canada.

<sup>274</sup> Turner, et al. (2017). The relationship between childhood sexual abuse and mental health outcomes among males: Results from a nationally representative United States sample.

<sup>275</sup> Devries, K. M., Mak, J. Y. T., Child, J. C., Falder, G., Bacchus, L. J., Astbury, J. & Watts, C. H. (2014). Childhood sexual abuse and suicidal behavior: A meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 133(5), e1331-e1344. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-2166

<sup>276</sup> Ng, Q. X., Yong, B. Z. J., Ho, C. Y. X., Lim, D. Y., & Yeo, W.-S. (2018). Early life sexual abuse is associated with increased suicide attempts: An update meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 99, 129-141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.02.001

<sup>277</sup> Chatzittofis, A., Savard, J., Arver, S., Öberg, K. G., Hallberg, J., Nordström, P., & Jokinen, J. (2017). Interpersonal violence, early life adversity, and suicidal behavior in hypersexual men. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(2), 187-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.6.2017.027</u>

<sup>278</sup> Dias de Mattos Souza, L., Lopez Molina, M., Azevedo da Silva, R., & Jansen, K. (2016). History of childhood trauma as risk factors to suicide risk in major depression. *Psychiatry Research*, 246, 612-616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.11.002</u>

<sup>279</sup> Kealy, D., Joyce, A., Abbass, A., & Oliffe, J. L. (2016). Childhood traumas among men attending outpatient psychiatric services. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 14(2), 135-140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-015-9571-0

<sup>280</sup> Kealy, D., Rice, S. M., Seidler, Z. E., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Oliffe, J. L. (2021). Social anxiety and suicidality among men: Examining the effects of loneliness and childhood trauma. *Current* Psychology, 1-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02235-z</u>

<sup>281</sup> Kealy, et al. (2016). Childhood traumas among men attending outpatient psychiatric services.

<sup>282</sup> Afifi, et al. (2014).

<sup>283</sup> Turner, et al. (2017).

<sup>284</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>285</sup> Wolford-Clevenger, et al. (2016). The association of partner abuse types and suicidal ideation among men and women college students.

<sup>286</sup> Devries, et al. (2013). Intimate partner violence and incident depressive symptoms and suicide attempts: A systematic review of longitudinal studies.

<sup>287</sup> Sugg. (2015). Intimate partner violence: Prevalence, health consequences, and intervention.

<sup>288</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>289</sup> Brennan, S., & Boyce, J. (2013) Section 2: Family-related murder-suicides. In M. Sinha, Family violence in Canada: A statistical profile, 2011 (pp. 17-32). Statistics Canada (Catalogue No. 85-002-X). <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/85-002-x/2013001/article/11805-eng.pdf?st=v3ugv8\_r</u> <sup>290</sup> Ulloa, E. C., & Hammett, J. F. (2016). The effect of gender and perpetrator-victim role on mental health outcomes and risk behaviors associated with intimate partner violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 31(7), 1184-1207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514564163</u>

<sup>291</sup> Afifi, et al. (2014).

<sup>292</sup> Dias de Mattos Souza, et al. (2016). History of childhood trauma as risk factors to suicide risk in major depression.

<sup>293</sup> Kealy, et al. (2021). Social anxiety and suicidality among men: Examining the effects of loneliness and childhood trauma.

<sup>294</sup> Public Health Agency of Canada. (2020).

<sup>295</sup> Statistics Canada. (2017). Health indicators, by Aboriginal identity, age-standardized rates, four-year period estimates (Table 13-10-0458-01). <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310045801</u>

<sup>296</sup> Government of Canada. (2016). Working together to prevent suicide in Canada: The 2016 progress report on the federal framework for suicide prevention.

<sup>297</sup> Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami. (2016). National Inuit suicide prevention strategy. <u>https://www.itk.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ITK-National-Inuit-Suicide-Prevention-Strategy-2016.pdf</u>

<sup>298</sup> Government of Nunavut, Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated, Royal Canadian Mounted Police (V-Division), & Embrace Life Council. (2016). Resiliency within: An action plan for suicide prevention in Nunavut 2016-2017. https://tinyurl.com/2p8fjbek

<sup>299</sup> Canada. Parliament. Senate. Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs. (2016). Declaration of health emergency by First Nations communities in northern Ontario. 42nd Parl., 1st session. https://www.mcgill.ca/library/files/library/Canadian\_Government\_Citation\_Guide.pdf

<sup>300</sup> Nishnawbe Aski Nation. (2016). Crisis response manual 2016: The people and the land. https://nancovid19.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Crisis-Response-Manual-2016.pdf

<sup>301</sup> Kumar, M. B., & Tjepkema, M. (2019). Suicide among First Nations people, Métis and Inuit (2011-2016): Findings from the 2011 Canadian census health and environment cohort (CanCHEC). Statistics Canada. Consumer Policy Research Database. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/99-011-x/99-011-x2019001-eng.htm</u>

<sup>302</sup> Kumar & Tjepkema. (2019). Suicide among First Nations people, Métis and Inuit (2011-2016): Findings from the 2011 Canadian census health and environment cohort (CanCHEC).

<sup>303</sup> Kumar & Tjepkema. (2019).

<sup>304</sup> Crawford, A., (2016). Suicide among Indigenous peoples in Canada. In The Canadian Encyclopedia.

<sup>305</sup> Fast, E., & Collin-Vèzina, D. (2019). Historical trauma, race-based trauma, and resilience of Indigenous peoples: A literature review. First Peoples Child and Family Review, 14(1), 166-181.

https://doi.org/10.7202/1069069ar

<sup>306</sup> Kumar & Tjepkema. (2019).

<sup>307</sup> Haskell, L., & Randall, M. (2009). Disrupted attachments: A social context complex trauma framework and the lives of Aboriginal peoples in Canada. *Journal of Aboriginal Health*, 5(3), 48-99. https://www.learningtoendabuse.ca/our-work/pdfs/Haskell-Randall1.pdf

<sup>308</sup> Linklater, R. B. L. L. (2011). Decolonising trauma work: Indigenous practitioners share stories and strategies [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Toronto TSpace Repository.

https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/31696

<sup>309</sup> Kumar & Tjepkema. (2019).

<sup>310</sup> Haskell & Randall. (2019). Disrupted attachments: A social context complex trauma framework and the lives of Aboriginal peoples in Canada.

<sup>311</sup> Government of Canada. (2022). Reducing the number of Indigenous children in care. <u>https://www.sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1541187352297/1541187392851</u>

<sup>312</sup> Grant, E. L. (2017). It's not a crisis of public health; It's a crisis of Indigenous health. Stanford Journal of Public Health, 6, 48-50. <u>https://tinyurl.com/2p9dfz7s</u>

<sup>313</sup> Toombs, E., Kowatch, K. R., Dalicandro, L., McConkey, Hopkins, C., & Mushquash, C. J. (2021). A systematic review of electronic mental health interventions for Indigenous youth: Results and recommendations. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 27(9), 539-552. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X19899231</u>

<sup>314</sup> Cwik, M., Doty, S. B., Hinton, A., Goklish, N., Ivanich, J., Hill, K., Lee, A., Tingey, L., & Craig, M. (2022). Community perspectives on social influences on suicide within a Native American reservation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 32(1), 16-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10497323211045646</u>

<sup>315</sup> Lavoie, J. A., & Blandford, S. (2019). Police response to crisis involving suicide risk: Strategies for suicide intervention and prevention. In U. Williams (Ed.)., *Canadian perspectives: A practical approach to mental health response for police personnel* (pp. 223-244). Canadian Scholars.

<sup>316</sup> Cwik, et al. (2022). Community perspectives on social influences on suicide within a Native American Reservation.

<sup>317</sup> Grant. (2017). It's not a crisis of public health; It's a crisis of Indigenous health.

<sup>318</sup> Toombs, et al. (2021). A systematic review of electronic mental health interventions for Indigenous youth: results and recommendations.

319 Cwik, et al. (2022).

<sup>320</sup> Pollock, N. J., Healey, G. K., Jong, M., Valcour, J. E., & Mulay, S. (2018). Tracking progress in suicide prevention in Indigenous communities: A challenge for public health surveillance in Canada. BMC *Public Health*, 18(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6224-9

<sup>321</sup> Ansloos, J. (2018). Rethinking Indigenous suicide. International Journal of Indigenous Health, 13(2), 8-28. https://doi.org/10.32799/ijih.v13i2.32061

<sup>322</sup> Ferlatte, O., Salway, T., Oliffe, J. L., Kia, H., Rice, S., Morgan, J., Lowik, A. J., & Knight, R. (2019). Sexual and gender minorities' readiness and interest in supporting peers experiencing suicide-related behaviors. *Crisis*, 41(4), 273-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000632</u>

<sup>323</sup> Ferlatte, O., Oliffe, J. L., Louie, D. R., Ridge, D., Broom, A., & Salway, T. (2019). Suicide prevention from the perspectives of gay, bisexual, and two-spirit men. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(8), 1186-1198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318816082</u>

<sup>324</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2019). Sexual and gender minorities' readiness and interest in supporting peers experiencing suicide-related behaviors.

<sup>325</sup> Ferlatte, Salway, et al. (2019).

<sup>326</sup> Kia, H., MacKinnon, K. R., Abramovich, A., & Bonato, S. (2021). Peer support as a protective factor against suicide in trans populations: A scoping review. Social Science and Medicine, 279, Article 114026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114026

<sup>327</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>328</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>329</sup> Ferlatte, O., Dulai, J., Salway Hottes, T., Trussler, T., & Marchand, R. (2015). Suicide related ideation and behavior among Canadian gay and bisexual men: A syndemic analysis. BMC *Public Health*, 15(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1961-5</u>

<sup>330</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>331</sup> Ferlatte, O., Salway, T., Hankivsky, O., Trussler, T., Oliffe, J. L., & Marchand, R. (2018). Recent suicide attempts across multiple social identities among gay and bisexual men: An intersectionality analysis. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 65(11), 1507-1526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2017.1377489</u>

<sup>332</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>333</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2018). Recent suicide attempts across multiple social identities among gay and bisexual men: An intersectionality analysis.

<sup>334</sup> Ferlatte, O., Salway, T., Oliffe, J. L., Rice, S. M., Gilbert, M., Young, I., McDaid, L., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Knight, R. (2021). Depression and suicide literacy among Canadian sexual and gender minorities. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 25(4), 876-891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2020.1769783</u>

<sup>335</sup> Salway, T., Juwono, S., Klassen, B., Ferlatte, O., Ablona, A., Pruden, H., Morgan, J., Kwag, M., Card, K., Knight, R., & Lachowsky, N. J. (2021). Experiences with sexual orientation and gender identity conversion therapy practices among sexual minority men in Canada, 2019–2020. PLOS ONE, 16(6), Article e0252539. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0252539

<sup>336</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2021). Depression and suicide literacy among Canadian sexual and gender minorities.

<sup>337</sup> Pullen Sansfaçon, A., Medico, D., Riggs, D., Carlile, A., & Suerich-Gulick, R. (2021). Growing up trans in Canada, Switzerland, England, and Australia: Access to and impacts of gender-affirming medical care. *Journal of LGBT Youth.* Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19361653.2021.1924918</u>

<sup>338</sup> Horwitz, A. G., Grupp-Phelan, J., Brent, D., Barney, B., J., Casper, T. C., Berona, J., Chernick, L. S., Shenoi, R., Cwik, M., & King, C. A. (2021). Risk and protective factors for suicide among sexual minority youth seeking emergency medical services. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279, 274-281.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.015

<sup>339</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>340</sup> Peterson, C., Sussell, A., Schumacher, P. K., Yeoman, K, & Stone, D. M. (2020). Suicide rates by industry and occupation – National Violent Death Reporting System, 32 states, 2016. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 69(3), 57-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6903a1</u>

<sup>341</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>342</sup> Sareen, J., Afifi, T. O., Taillieu, T., Cheung, K., Turner, S., Bolton, S.-L., Erickson, J., Stein, M. B., Fikretoglu, D., & Zamorski, M. A. (2016). Trends in suicidal behaviour and use of mental health services in Canadian military and civilian populations. CMAJ, 188(11), E261-E267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.151047</u>

<sup>343</sup> Sareen, et al., (2016). Trends in suicidal behaviour and use of mental health services in Canadian military and civilian populations.

<sup>344</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>345</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>346</sup> Carleton, R. N., Afifi, T. O., Turner, S., Taillieu, T., LeBouthillier D. M., Duranceau, S., Sareen, J., Ricciardelli, R., MacPhee, R. S., Groll, D., Hozempa, K., Brunet, A., Weekes, J. R., Griffiths, C. T., Abrams, K. J., Jones, N. A., Beshair, S., Cramm, H. A., Dobson, K. S., . . . Asmundson, G. J. G. (2018). Suicidal ideation, plans, and attempts among public safety personnel in Canada. *Canadian Psychology*, 59(3), 220–231. https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000136

<sup>347</sup> Barry, et al. (2020). Rurality and risk of suicide attempts and death by suicide among people living in four English-speaking high-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis.

<sup>348</sup> Mohatt, et al. (2021). A systematic review of factors impacting suicide risk among rural adults in the United States.

<sup>349</sup> Rhew, et al. (2011). Drug use and risk among youth in different rural contexts.

<sup>350</sup> Creighton, et al. (2017).

<sup>351</sup> Martin, G., Swannell, S., Milner, A., & Gullestrup, J. (2016). Mates in construction suicide prevention program: A five year review. *Journal of Community Medicine and Health Education*, 6(465), 2161–2711. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0711.1000465

<sup>352</sup> Martin, et al. (2016). Mates in construction suicide prevention program: A five year review.

<sup>353</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>354</sup> Saunders, N. R., Chiu, M., Lebenbaum, M., Chen, S., Kurdyak, P., Guttmann, A., & Vigod, S. (2019). Suicide and self-harm in recent immigrants in Ontario, Canada: A population-based study. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(11), 777-788. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743719856851</u>

<sup>355</sup> Saunders, et al. (2019). Suicide and self-harm in recent immigrants in Ontario, Canada: A population-based study.

<sup>356</sup> Amiri, S. (2020). Prevalence of suicide in immigrants/refugees: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of Suicide Research, 11, 1-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2020.1802379</u>

<sup>357</sup> Amiri. (2020). Prevalence of suicide in immigrants/refugees: A systematic review and meta-analysis.

<sup>358</sup> DCruz, J. T., Joseph, J. N., Shehata, N., & Gruner, D. (2018). A cry for help: Suicide attempts by an Iraqi refugee and the role of community service learning. *University of Ottawa Journal of Medicine*, 8(1), 72-74. https://doi.org/10.18192/uojm.v8i1.2346

<sup>359</sup> Said, M., Boardman, G., & Kidd, S. (2021). Barriers to accessing mental health services in Somali-Australian women: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 30(4), 931-938. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12846</u> <sup>360</sup> Bowden, M., McCoy, A., & Reavley, N. (2020). Suicidality and suicide prevention in culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities: A systematic review. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 49(4), 293-320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207411.2019.1694204</u>

<sup>361</sup> Schlechter, P., Kamp, S., Wanninger, K., Knausenberger, J., Wagner, U., Wilkinson, P. O., Nohr, L., & Hellmann, J. H. (2021). Help-seeking attitudes and distress disclosure among Syrian refugees in Germany. *Counseling Psychologist*, 49(3), 330-352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000020974934</u>

<sup>362</sup> Ager, W., Chammay, R. E., Lechner, J., Ventevogel, P., & Vijayakumar, L. (2021). Displaced, dispossessed and silenced: The need for suicide prevention and response for conflict-affected populations [Commentary]. *Intervention*, 19(2), 145-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/intv.intv\_24\_21</u>

<sup>363</sup> Said, et al. (2021). Barriers to accessing mental health services in Somali-Australian women: a qualitative study.

<sup>364</sup> Schlechter, et al. (2021). Help-seeking attitudes and distress disclosure among Syrian refugees in Germany.
 <sup>365</sup> Ager, et al. (2021). Displaced, dispossessed and silenced: The need for suicide prevention and response for conflict-affected populations.

<sup>366</sup> Salami, B., Salma, J., & Hegadoren, K. (2019). Access and utilization of mental health services for immigrants and refugees: Perspectives of immigrant service providers. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 28(1), 152-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12512</u>

<sup>367</sup> Salami, et al. (2019). Access and utilization of mental health services for immigrants and refugees: Perspectives of immigrant service providers.

<sup>368</sup> Goodwill, J. R., Taylor, R. J., & Watkins, D. C. (2021). Everyday discrimination, depressive symptoms, and suicide ideation among African American men. Archives of Suicide Research, 25(1), 74-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2019.1660287

<sup>369</sup> Goodwill, et al. (2021). Everyday discrimination, depressive symptoms, and suicide ideation among African American men. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2019.1660287</u>

<sup>370</sup> Forte, A., Trobia, F., Gualtieri, F., Lamis, D. A., Cardamone, G., Giallonardon, V., Fiorillo, A., Dirardi, P., & Pompili, M. (2018). Suicide risk among immigrants and ethnic minorities: A literature overview. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(7), Article 1438. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15071438</u>

<sup>371</sup> Toomey, R. B., Syvertsen, A. K., & Flores, M. (2019). Are developmental assets protective against suicidal behavior? Differential associations by sexual orientation. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48(4), 788-801. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0954-y</u>

<sup>372</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2018).

<sup>373</sup> Standley, C. J. (2020). Expanding our paradigms: Intersectional and socioecological approaches to suicide prevention. *Death Studies*,46(4), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2020.1725934</u>

<sup>374</sup> Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. University of Chicago Legal Forum, 1989(1), 139-167. <u>https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1052&context=uclf</u>

375 Ferlatte, et al. (2018).

<sup>376</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2018).

<sup>377</sup> Hunt, S. (2016). An introduction to the health of two-spirit people: Historical, contemporary and emergent issues. National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. <u>https://www.ccnsa-nccah.ca/docs/emerging/RPT-HealthTwoSpirit-Hunt-EN.pdf</u>

<sup>378</sup> Hunt. (2016). An introduction to the health of two-spirit people: Historical, contemporary and emergent issues. <sup>379</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2018).

<sup>380</sup> Standley. (2020). Expanding our paradigms: Intersectional and socioecological approaches to suicide prevention.

<sup>381</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19: Summary report. <u>https://mentalhealthcommission.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/mhcc\_ccsa\_covid\_leger\_poll\_eng.pdf</u>

<sup>382</sup> Morneau Shepell. (2020, December). The Mental Health Index Report. <u>https://www.morneaushepell.com/permafiles/93200/mental-health-index-report-canada-december-2020.pdf</u> <sup>383</sup> Statistics Canada. (2020, May 27). Canadians' mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Daily* <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200527/dq200527b-eng.htm</u>

<sup>384</sup> Dozois, D. J. A. (2021). Anxiety and depression in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national survey. *Canadian Psychology*, 62(1), 136-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000251</u>

<sup>385</sup> Jenkins, E. K., McAuliffe, C., Hirani, S., Richardson, C., Thomson, K. C., McGuinness, L., Morris, J., Kousoulis, A., & Gaermann, A. (2021). A portrait of the early and differential mental health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada: Findings from the first wave of a nationally representative cross-sectional survey. *Preventive Medicine*, 145, Article 106333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106333</u>

<sup>386</sup> Canadian Mental Health Association, University of British Columbia, Mental Health Foundation, The Agenda Collaborative, & Maru/Matchbox. (n.d.). *Summary of findings* – Mental health impacts of COVID-19: Round 3. <u>https://cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/CMHA-UBC-Round-3-Summary-of-Findings-FINAL-EN.pdf</u>

<sup>387</sup> Canadian Mental Health Association, University of British Columbia, Mental Health Foundation, The Agenda Collaborative, & Maru/Matchbox. (n.d.). *Mental health impacts of* COVID-19: *Wave 2*. <u>https://cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/CMHA-UBC-wave-2-Summary-of-Findings-FINAL-EN.pdf</u>

<sup>388</sup> Canadian Mental Health Association, et al. (n.d.). Mental health impacts of COVID-19: Wave 2. <sup>389</sup> Sher. (2020).

<sup>390</sup> Stall, N. M., Wu, W., Lapointe-Shaw, L., Fisman, D. N., Giannakeas, V., Hillmer, M. P., & Rochon, P. A. (2020). Sex- and age- specific differences in COVID-19 testing, cases, and outcomes: A population-wide study in Ontario, Canada. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(10), 2188-2191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16761</u>

<sup>391</sup> White, A. (2020). Men and COVID-19: The aftermath. Postgraduate Medicine, 132(Suppl. 4), 18-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2020.1823760</u>

<sup>392</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19: Summary report.

<sup>393</sup> Morneau Shepell. (2020, December). The Mental Health Index Report.

<sup>394</sup> Statistics Canada. (2020, May 27). Canadians' mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic.

<sup>395</sup> Dozois. (2021). Anxiety and depression in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national survey.

<sup>396</sup> Jenkins, et al. (2021). A portrait of the early and differential mental health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada: Findings from the first wave of a nationally representative cross-sectional survey.

<sup>397</sup> Canadian Mental Health Association, et al. (n.d.). Summary of findings – Mental health impacts of COVID-19: Round 3.

<sup>398</sup> Canadian Mental Health Association, et al. (n.d.). Mental health impacts of COVID-19: Wave 2.

<sup>399</sup> Centre for Mental Health and Addiction (CAMH). (2021). COVID-19 national survey dashboard. https://www.camh.ca/en/health-info/mental-health-and-covid-19/covid-19-national-survey

<sup>400</sup> Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Rice, S. M., Kealy, D., Seidler, Z. E., Delara, M., & Oliffe, J. L. (2021). Psychosocial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study of online help-seeking Canadian men. Postgraduate Medicine, 133(7), 750-759. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2021.1873027</u>

<sup>401</sup> Ogrodniczuk, et al. (2021). Psychosocial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study of online help-seeking Canadian men.

<sup>402</sup> Movember Canada. (2021, November 19). Canadian men more comfortable talking about their physical health than mental health, new survey by Movember and Ipsos shows. Newswire. <u>https://tinyurl.com/ycyhrwu6</u>

<sup>403</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>404</sup> Oliffe & Han. (2014).

<sup>405</sup> Oliffe, et al. (2013).

<sup>406</sup> Ostamo, et al. (2001).

407 Wilson, et al. (2020).

<sup>408</sup> McIntyre & Lee. (2020). Projected increases in suicide in Canada as a consequence of COVID-19.

<sup>409</sup> Chang, et al. (2013). Impact of 2008 global economic crisis on suicide: Time trend study in 54 countries.

<sup>410</sup> Norström & Grönqvist. (2015). The great recession, unemployment and suicide.

<sup>411</sup> Barr, et al. (2012). Suicides associated with the 2008-10 economic recession in England: Time trend analysis.

<sup>412</sup> Reeves, et al. (2014). Economic suicides in the great recession in Europe and North America.

<sup>413</sup> Canadian Mental Health Association, et al. (n.d.). Mental health impacts of COVID-19: Wave 2.

<sup>414</sup> Centre for Mental Health and Addiction (CAMH). (2021). COVID-19 national survey dashboard.

<sup>415</sup> Statistics Canada. (2020, May 8). Labour Force Survey, April 2020. The Daily.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200508/dq200508a-eng.htm

<sup>416</sup> Ogrodniczuk, et al. (2021).

<sup>417</sup> Lynch, et al. (2020).

<sup>418</sup> Borges, et al. (2017).

<sup>419</sup> Darvishi, et al. (2015). Alcohol-related risk of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and completed suicide: a meta-analysis.

<sup>420</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19: Summary report.

<sup>421</sup> Centre for Mental Health and Addiction (CAMH). (2021).

<sup>422</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19. Summary report 2: Spotlight on gender and household size. https://tinyurl.com/yr5nk83e

<sup>423</sup> Centre for Mental Health and Addiction (CAMH). (2021).

<sup>424</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19. Summary report 2: Spotlight on gender and household size.

<sup>425</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19. Summary report 2: Spotlight on gender and household size.
 <sup>426</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>427</sup> Ernst, et al. (2021). Gender-specific associations of loneliness and suicidal ideation in a representative population sample: Young, lonely men are particularly at risk.

<sup>428</sup> Calati, et al. (2019). Suicidal thoughts and behaviors and social isolation: A narrative review of the literature. <sup>429</sup> Cotnam, H. (2021, May 3). Broken marriages becoming pandemic's other toll. CBC News.

https://tinyurl.com/2p82jz3f

<sup>430</sup> McKnight, N. (2021, March 9). Suddenly single. Finder. <u>https://www.finder.com/ca/divorce-statistics</u>

<sup>431</sup> Ogrodniczuk, et al. (2021).

<sup>432</sup> Ogrodniczuk, et al. (2021).

<sup>433</sup> Jenkins, et al. (2021).

<sup>434</sup> Centre for Mental Health and Addiction (CAMH). (2021).

<sup>435</sup> Movember Canada. (2020). Movember releases new study, encourages Canadians to check-in with men in their life during COVID-19 pandemic. <u>https://tinyurl.com/2p8ak3xw</u>

436 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>437</sup> Judd, F., Komiti, A., & Jackson, H. (2008). How does being female assist help-seeking for mental health problems? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 42(1), 24-29. https://doi.org/10.1080/00048670701732681

<sup>438</sup> Statistics Canada. (2021). Self-perceived mental health and mental health care needs during the COVID-19 pandemic. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2021001/article/00031-eng.htm</u>

<sup>439</sup> Statistics Canada. (2021). Self-perceived mental health and mental health care needs during the COVID-19 pandemic.

<sup>440</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19. Summary report 2: Spotlight on gender and household size.
 <sup>441</sup> Jenkins, et al. (2021).

<sup>442</sup> Movember Canada. (2020). Movember releases new study, encourages Canadians to check-in with men in their life during COVID-19 pandemic.

<sup>443</sup> Cleveland Clinic Newsroom. (2020, September 2). Cleveland Clinic "Coping with COVID" Survey illustrates the mental and physical toll the pandemic is taking on men. <u>https://tinyurl.com/29medm8e</u>

<sup>444</sup> Ashcroft, R., Donnelly, C., Dancey, M., Gill, S., Lam, S., Kourgiantakis, T., Adamson, K., Verrilli, D., Dolovich, L., Kirvan, A., Mehta, K., Sur, D., & Brown, J. B. (2021). Primary care teams' experiences of delivering mental health care during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative study. BMC *Family Practice*, 22(1), Article 143. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-021-01496-8

<sup>445</sup> Mehta, S., Machado, F., Kwizera, A., Papazian, L., Moss, M., Azoulay, É., & Herridge, M. (2021). COVID-19: A heavy toll on health-care workers [Commentary]. *Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 9(3), 226-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00068-0</u>

<sup>446</sup> Jenkins, et al. (2021).

<sup>447</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada, & Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2021). Mental health and substance use during COVID-19: Summary report.

<sup>448</sup> Canadian Mental Health Association, et al. (n.d.). Mental health impacts of COVID-19: Wave 2.

<sup>449</sup> Sanchez, T. H., Zlotorzynska, M., Rai, M., & Baral, S. D. (2020). Characterizing the impact of COVID-19 on men who have sex with men across the United States in April. AIDS *and* Behavior, 24(7), 2024-2032. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-020-02894-2

<sup>450</sup> Brennan, D. J., Card, K. G., Collict, D., Jollimore, J., & Lachowsky, N. J. (2020). How might social distancing impact gay, bisexual, queer, trans and two-spirit men in Canada? AIDS *and Behavior*, 24(9), 2480-2482. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-020-02891-5</u>

<sup>451</sup> Brennan et al. (2020). How might social distancing impact gay, bisexual, queer, trans and two-spirit men in Canada?

<sup>452</sup> Sanchez, et al. (2020). Characterizing the impact of COVID-19 on men who have sex with men across the United States in April, 2020.

<sup>453</sup> Brennan et al. (2020).

<sup>454</sup> Power, T., Wilson, D., Best, O., Brockie, T., Bourque Bearskin, L., & Millender, E. (2020). COVID-19 and Indigenous peoples: An imperative for action. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 29(15-16), 2737-2741. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15320</u>

<sup>455</sup> Jenkins, et al. (2021).

<sup>456</sup> Power et al. (2020). COVID-19 and Indigenous peoples: An imperative for action.

<sup>457</sup> Power et al. (2020).

<sup>458</sup> Struszczyk, S., Galdas, P. M., & Tiffin, P. A. (2019). Men and suicide prevention: A scoping review. *Journal of Mental Health*, 28(1), 80–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2017.1370638</u>

<sup>459</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>460</sup> Gibbons, et al. (2015). Beliefs and attitudes towards mental illness: An examination of the sex differences in mental health literacy in a community sample.

<sup>461</sup> Cole, B. P., & Davidson, M. M. (2019). Exploring men's perceptions about male depression. Psychology of Men and Masculinities, 20(4), 459-466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000176</u>

<sup>462</sup> Oliffe, et al. (2019). Men's depression and suicide.

<sup>463</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Rossnagel, E., Bottorff, J. L., Chambers, S. K., Caperchione, C., & Rice, S. M. (2020). Communitybased men's health promotion programs: Eight lessons learnt and their caveats. *Health Promotion International*, 35(5), 1230-1240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daz101</u>

<sup>464</sup> Oliffe, J. L., McCreary, D. R., Black, N., Flannigan, R., & Goldenberg, S. L. (2020). Canadian men's health literacy: A nationally representative study. *Health Promotion Practice*, 21(6), 993-1003. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839919837625

<sup>465</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020). Community-based men's health promotion programs: eight lessons learnt and their caveats.

<sup>466</sup> Seidler, Z. E., Rice, S. M., Kealy, D., Oliffe, J. L., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2020). What gets in the way? Men's perspectives of barriers to mental health services. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 66(2), 105-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764019886336</u>

<sup>467</sup> Fogarty, A. S., Spurrier, M., Player, M. J., Wilhelm, K., Whittle, E. L., Shand, F., Christensen, H., & Proudfoot, J. (2018). Tensions in perspectives on suicide prevention between men who have attempted suicide and their support networks: Secondary analysis of qualitative data. *Health Expectations*, 21(1), 261-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12611</u> <sup>468</sup> World Health Organization. (2014). Preventing suicide: A global imperative.

<sup>469</sup> Burnette, C., Ramchand, R., & Ayer, L. (2015). Gatekeeper training for suicide prevention: A theoretical model and review of the empirical literature. *Rand Health Quarterly*, 5(1). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5158249/

<sup>470</sup> Ewell Foster, C. J., Burnside, A. N., Smith, P. K., Dramer, A. C., Wills, A., & King, C. A. (2017). Identification, response, and referral of suicidal youth following applied suicide intervention skills training. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 47(3), 297-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12272</u>

<sup>471</sup> Sareen, J., Isaak, C., Bolton, S.-L., Enns, M. W., Elias, B., Deane, F., Munro, G., Stein, M. B., Chateau, D., Gould, M., & Katz, L. Y. (2013). Gatekeeper training for suicide prevention in First Nations community members: A randomized controlled trial. *Depression and Anxiety*, 30(10), 1021-1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22141</u>

<sup>472</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019). Men and suicide prevention: A scoping review.

<sup>473</sup> Ferlatte, Salway, et al. (2019).

<sup>474</sup> Ferlatte, Salway, et al. (2019).

475 Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>476</sup> Seidler, Z. E., Rice, S. M., Kealy, D., Oliffe, J. L., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S.. (2020). Getting them through the door: A survey of men's facilitators for seeking mental health treatment. *International Journal of Mental Health and* Addiction, 18(5), 1346-1351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-019-00147-5</u>

<sup>477</sup> Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Oliffe, J. L., & Beharry, J. (2018). HeadsUpGuys: Canadian online resource for men with depression [Commentary]. *Canadian Family Physician*, 64(2), 93–94.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5964376/pdf/0640093.pdf

<sup>478</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>479</sup> Seidler, et al. (2020). Getting them through the door: A survey of men's facilitators for seeking mental health treatment.

<sup>480</sup> Canetto & Sakinofsky. (1998). The gender paradox in suicide.

<sup>481</sup> Liu, et al. (2021). Changes over time in means of suicide in Canada: An analysis of mortality data from 1981 to 2018.

<sup>482</sup> King, C. A., Horowitz, A., Czyz, E., & Lindsay, R. (2017). Suicide risk screening in healthcare settings: Identifying males and females at risk. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 24(1), 8–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10880-017-9486-y</u>

<sup>483</sup> Liu, et al. (2021).

 <sup>484</sup> King, et al. (2017). Suicide risk screening in healthcare settings: Identifying males and females at risk.
 <sup>485</sup> Bandealy, A., Herrera, N., Weissman, M., & Scheidt, P. (2020). Use of lethal means restriction counseling for suicide prevention in pediatric primary care. *Preventive Medicine*, 130, Article 105855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105855

<sup>486</sup> Barnhorst, A., Gonzales, H., & Asif-Sattar, R. (2021). Suicide prevention efforts in the United States and their effectiveness. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 34(3), 299-305. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.000000000000082

<sup>487</sup> Rosen, M. R., Michael, K. D., & Jameson, J. (2020). CALM gatekeeper training is associated with increased confidence in utilizing means reduction approaches to suicide prevention among college resident assistants. *Journal of American College Health*, 68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1756825</u>
<sup>488</sup> King, et al. (2017).

<sup>489</sup> Bandealy, et al. (2020). Use of lethal means restriction counseling for suicide prevention in pediatric primary care.

<sup>490</sup> Barnhorst, et al. (2021). Suicide prevention efforts in the United States and their effectiveness.

<sup>491</sup> Rosen, et al. (2020). CALM gatekeeper training is associated with increased confidence in utilizing means reduction approaches to suicide prevention among college resident assistants.

<sup>492</sup> Rosen et al. (2020).

<sup>493</sup> Arya, V., Page, A., Gunnell, D., Dandona, R., Mannan, H., Eddleston, M. & Armstrong, G. (2019). Suicide by hanging is a priority for suicide prevention: Method specific suicide in India (2001–2014). *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 257, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.07.005</u>

<sup>494</sup> Sinyor, M., Kiss, A., Williams, M., Zaheer, R., Pirkis, J., Heisel, M. J., Schaffer, A., Redelmeier, D. A., Cheung, A. H., & Niederkrotenthaler, T. (2021). Changes in suicide reporting quality and deaths in Ontario following publication of national media guidelines. *Crisis*, 42(5), <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000737</u>

<sup>495</sup> Sale, E., Hendricks, M., Weil, V., Miller, C., Perkins, S., & McCudden, S. (2018). Counseling on access to lethal means (CALM): An evaluation of a suicide prevention means restriction training program for mental health providers. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 54(3), 293–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-017-0190-z</u>

<sup>496</sup> Canadian Journalism Forum on Violence and Trauma. (2020). *Mindset: Reporting on mental health.* <u>https://www.mindset-mediaguide.ca/</u>

<sup>497</sup> Stanley, I. H., Hom, M. A., Rogers, M. L., Anestis, M. D., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). Discussing firearm ownership and access as part of suicide risk assessment and prevention: "means safety" versus "means restriction." Archives of Suicide Research, 21(2), 237-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2016.1175395</u>

498 King, et al. (2017).

<sup>499</sup> Fogarty, et al. (2018). Tensions in perspectives on suicide prevention between men who have attempted suicide and their support networks: Secondary analysis of qualitative data.

<sup>500</sup> King, et al. (2017).

<sup>501</sup> Moscardini, E. H., Hill, R. M., Dodd, C. G., Do, C., Kaplow, J. B., & Tucker, R. P. (2020). Suicide safety planning: Clinician training, comfort, and safety plan utilization. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(18), Article 6444. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186444</u>

<sup>502</sup> Stanley, B., Brown, G., K., Brenner, L. A., Galfalvy, H. C., Currier, G. W., Knox, K. L., Chaudhury, S. R., Bush, A. L., & Green, K. L. (2018). Comparison of the safety planning intervention with follow-up vs usual care of suicidal patients treated in the emergency department. JAMA Psychiatry, 75(9), 894-900. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.1776

<sup>503</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>504</sup> Jewkes, et al. (2015). Hegemonic masculinity: Combining theory and practice in gender interventions.

<sup>505</sup> King, et al. (2020).

<sup>506</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>507</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>508</sup> Connell, R. W., & Messerschmidt, J. W. (2005). Hegemonic masculinity: Rethinking the concept. *Gender and* Society, 19(6), 829-859. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243205278639</u>

<sup>509</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>510</sup> Kiselica, M. S., & Englar-Carlson, M. (2010). Identifying, affirming, and building upon male strengths: The positive psychology/positive masculinity model of psychotherapy with boys and men. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 47(3), 276-287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021159</u>

<sup>511</sup> Seidler, Z. E., Rice, S. M., River, J., Oliffe, J. L., & Dhillon, H. M. (2018). Men's mental health services: The case for a masculinities model. *Journal of Men's Studies*, 26(1), 92-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1060826517729406</u> <sup>512</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>513</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>514</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>515</sup> Salami, et al. (2019).

<sup>516</sup> Salami, et al. (2019).

<sup>517</sup> Gross, P. A., Efimoff, I., Partrick, L., & Josewski V. (2016). The DUDES Club: A brotherhood for men's health. *Canadian Family Physician*, 62(6), e311-e318. <u>https://www.cfp.ca/content/62/6/e311</u>

<sup>518</sup> Gross, et al. (2016). The DUDES Club: A brotherhood for men's health.

<sup>519</sup> Ferlatte, Salway, et al. (2019).

<sup>520</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2018).

<sup>521</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

522 Ferlatte, et al. (2021).

<sup>523</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>524</sup> Rice, et al. (2018). Male depression subtypes and suicidality: Latent profile analysis of internalizing and externalizing symptoms in a representative Canadian sample.

<sup>525</sup> Rice, et al. (2021). Male-type depression symptoms in young men with a history of childhood sexual abuse and current hazardous alcohol use.

<sup>526</sup> Rice, et al. (2018).

<sup>527</sup> Walther, A., Grub, J., Ehlert, U., Wehrli, S., Rice, S., Seidler, Z. E., & Debelak, R. (2021). Male depression risk, psychological distress, and psychotherapy uptake: Validation of the German version of the male depression risk scale. *Journal of Affective Disorders Reports*, 4, Article 100107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100107</u>

<sup>528</sup> Tarsuslu, B., & Durat, G. (2021). Psychometric properties of the Masculine Depression Scale in Turkish male university students. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 57(1), 287-294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12561</u>

<sup>529</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>530</sup> Rice, et al. (2018).

<sup>531</sup> Rice, et al. (2021).

<sup>532</sup> Rice, et al. (2018).

<sup>533</sup> Rice, et al. (2019).

<sup>534</sup> King, et al. (2017).

<sup>535</sup> Rhodes, A. E., Khan, S., Boyle, M. H., Tonmyr, L., Wekerle, C., Goodman, D., Bethell, J., Leslie, B., Lu, H., & Manion, I. (2013). Sex differences in suicides among children and youth: The potential impact of help-seeking behaviour. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(5), 274-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371305800504</u>

<sup>536</sup> Kealy, D., Rice, S. M., Ferlatte, O., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Oliffe, J. L. (2019). Better doctor-patient relationships are associated with men choosing more active depression treatment. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 32(1), 13-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2019.01.170430</u>

<sup>537</sup> King, et al. (2017).

<sup>538</sup> Luoma, J. B., Martin, C. E., & Pearson, J. L. (2002). Contact with mental health and primary care providers before suicide: A review of the evidence. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159(6), 909-916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.159.6.909</u>

<sup>539</sup> King, et al. (2017).

<sup>540</sup> Kealy et al. (2019). Better doctor-patient relationships are associated with men choosing more active depression treatment.

<sup>541</sup> Bilsker, D., Fogarty, A. S., & Wakefield, M.A. (2018). Critical issues in men's mental health. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 63(9), 590-596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743718766052</u>

<sup>542</sup> Klaassen, Z., Arora, K., Wilson, S. N., King, S. A., Madi, R., Neal, D. E., Jr., Kurdyak, P., Kulkarni, G. S., Lewis, R. W., & Terris, M. K. (2018). Decreasing suicide risk among patients with prostate cancer: Implications for depression, erectile dysfunction, and suicidal ideation screening. Urologic Oncology: Seminars and Original Investigations, 36(2), 60–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urolonc.2017.09.007</u>

<sup>543</sup> Kealy, et al. (2019).

544 Kealy, et al. (2019).

<sup>545</sup> Affleck, et al. (2018).

<sup>546</sup> Seidler, Z. E., Rice, S. M., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Oliffe, J. L., & Dhillon H. M. (2018). Engaging men in psychological treatment: A scoping review. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 12(6), 1882–1900. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318792157

<sup>547</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2021).

<sup>548</sup> Pullen Sansfaçon, et al. (2021). Growing up trans in Canada, Switzerland, England, and Australia: Access to and impacts of gender-affirming medical care.

<sup>549</sup> Horwitz, et al. (2021). Risk and protective factors for suicide among sexual minority youth seeking emergency medical services.

550 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>551</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>552</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

- <sup>553</sup> Kealy et al. (2019).
- <sup>554</sup> Oliffe, Ferlatte, et al. (2021).
- <sup>555</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>556</sup> Litwin, H., & Stoeckel, K. J. (2014). Confidant network types and well-being among older Europeans. *Gerontologist*, 54(5), 762-772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnt056</u>

<sup>557</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>558</sup> Whitley, R. (2018). Men's mental health: Beyond victim-blaming. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 63(9), 577-580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743718758041</u>

<sup>559</sup> Nurmi, M. A., Mackenzie, C. S., Roger, K., Reynolds, K., & Urquhart, J. (2018). Older men's perceptions of the need for and access to male-focused community programmes such as Men's Sheds. *Ageing and Society*, 38(4), 794-816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X16001331</u>

<sup>560</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>561</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2020). Rural and remote mental health in Canada. Evidence brief on best and promising practices. <u>https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/wp-content/uploads/drupal/2020-05/Rural\_remote\_mental\_health\_evidence\_brief\_eng.pdf</u>

<sup>562</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2019). Suicide prevention from the perspectives of gay, bisexual, and two-spirit men.

 $^{\rm 563}$  Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>564</sup> Rice, S. M., Goodall, J., Hetrick, S. E., Parker, A. G., Gilbertson, T., Amminger, G. P., Davey, C. G., McGorry, P. D., Gleeson, J., & Alvarez-Jimenez, M. (2014). Online and social networking interventions for the treatment of depression in young people: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 16(9), Article e3304. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3304</u>

565 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>566</sup> Hasking, P., Lewis, S. P., Bloom, E., Brausch, A., Kaess, K., & Robinson, K. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on students at elevated risk of self-injury: The importance of virtual and online resources. School *Psychology International*, 42(1), 57-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034320974414</u>

<sup>567</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>568</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>569</sup> Rice, et al. (2014). Online and social networking interventions for the treatment of depression in young people: A systematic review.

570 Fogarty, et al. (2018).

<sup>571</sup> Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2019). Stepped Care 2.0 e-mental health demonstration project: Final report. <u>https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/wp-content/uploads/drupal/2019-</u>09/emental health report eng 0.pdf

<sup>572</sup> Toombs, et al. (2021).

<sup>573</sup> Ogrodniczuk, J. S., Beharry, J., & Oliffe, J. L. (2021). An evaluation of 5-year web analytics for HeadsUpGuys: A men's depression e-mental health resource. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 15(6). https://doi.org/10.1177/15579883211063322

<sup>574</sup> Ogrodniczuk, et al. (2021). An evaluation of 5-year web analytics for HeadsUpGuys: A men's depression e-mental health resource.

<sup>575</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>576</sup> Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>577</sup> Kivari, C. A., Oliffe, J. L., Borgen, W. A., & Westwood, M. J. (2018). No man left behind: Effectively engaging male military veterans in counseling. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 12(2), 241-251. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988316630538

<sup>578</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>579</sup> Oliffe, Rossnagel, et al. (2020).

<sup>580</sup> Fogarty, et al. (2018).

<sup>581</sup> Kivary, et al. (2018). No man left behind: Effectively engaging male military veterans in counseling.

582 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>583</sup> King, K., Krysinska, K., & Nicholas, A. (2021). A rapid review to determine the suicide risk of separated men and the effectiveness of targeted suicide prevention interventions. Advances in Mental Health. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18387357.2021.1977666</u>

<sup>584</sup> Richardson, et al. (2021).

<sup>585</sup> Wolford-Clevenger, et al. (2016).

<sup>586</sup> Devries, et al. (2013).

<sup>587</sup> Sugg. (2015).

<sup>588</sup> Oliffe, J. L., Kelly, M. T., Gonzalez Montaner, G., Seidler, Z. E., Maher. B., & Rice, S. M. (2021). Men building better relationships: A scoping review. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 33(1), 126-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.463</u>

<sup>589</sup> Struszczyk, et al. (2019).

<sup>590</sup> Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Seidler, et al. (2021). Men building better relationships: A scoping review. <sup>591</sup> Public Health Agency of Canada. (2020).

<sup>592</sup> Statistics Canada. (2022). Leading causes of death, total population by age group (Table 13-10-0394-01).

593 Varin, et al. (2021).

<sup>594</sup> Cavanagh, et al. (2017). Differences in the expression of symptoms in men versus women with depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis.

595 Martin, et al. (2013).

596 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>597</sup> Oliffe & Phillips. (2008).

<sup>598</sup> Rice, et al. (2019).

<sup>599</sup> Magovcevic & Addis. (2008).

600 Milner, et al. (2019).

<sup>601</sup> Moss-Racusin, et al. (2010). When men break the gender rules: Status incongruity and backlash against modest men.

<sup>602</sup> Clement, et al. (2015). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies.

603 Affleck, et al. (2018).

<sup>604</sup> Persett, et al. (2018). Patients admitted to hospital after suicide attempt with violent methods compared to patients with deliberate self-poisoning: A study of background variables, somatic and psychiatric health and suicidal behavior.

<sup>605</sup> Bilban & Škibin. (2005). Presence of alcohol in suicide victims.

606 Cibis, et al. (2012).

607 Seidler, et al. (2016).

<sup>608</sup> Vogel & Heath. (2016).

609 McDermott, et al. (2018).

610 Affleck, et al. (2018).

611 Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

<sup>612</sup> Statistics Canada. (2017). Health indicators, by Aboriginal identity, age-standardized rates, four-year period estimates (Table 13-10-0458-01).

613 Kumar & Tjepkema. (2019).

<sup>614</sup> Ferlatte, Salway, et al. (2019).

<sup>615</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2015). Suicide related ideation and behavior among Canadian gay and bisexual men: A syndemic analysis.

616 Saunders, et al. (2019).

617 Amiri. (2020).

618 Said, et al. (2021).

<sup>619</sup> Forte, et al. (2018). Suicide risk among immigrants and ethnic minorities: A literature overview.

620 Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

621 Barry, et al. (2020).

622 Mohatt, et al. (2021).

623 Rhew, et al. (2011).

<sup>624</sup> Creighton, et al. (2017). "Things I did not know": Retrospectives on a Canadian rural male youth suicide using an instrumental photovoice case study.

<sup>625</sup> Crawford. (2016). Suicide among Indigenous peoples in Canada.

<sup>626</sup> Fast & Collin-Vèzina. (2019). Historical trauma, race-based trauma, and resilience of Indigenous peoples: A literature review.

<sup>627</sup> Ferlatte, Salway, et al. (2019).

<sup>628</sup> Ferlatte, Oliffe, et al. (2019).

629 Ferlatte, et al. (2018).

<sup>630</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2021).

<sup>631</sup> Peterson, et al. (2020). Suicide rates by industry and occupation — National Violent Death Reporting System, 32 states, 2016.

<sup>632</sup> Martin, et al. (2016).

<sup>633</sup> DCruz, et al. (2018). A cry for help: Suicide attempts by an Iraqi refugee and the role of community service learning.

634 Salami, et al. (2019).

635 Oliffe, Kelly, Gonzales Montaner, Links, et al. (2021).

636 Barry, et al. (2020).

637 Mohatt, et al. (2021).

638 Rhew, et al. (2011).

- <sup>639</sup> Creighton, et al. (2017).
- 640 Crawford, A., (2016).
- <sup>641</sup> Fast & Collin-Vèzina. (2019).
- <sup>642</sup> Ferlatte, Salway, et al. (2019).
- <sup>643</sup> Ferlatte, Oliffe, et al. (2019).
- <sup>644</sup> Ferlatte, et al. (2018).
- 645 Ferlatte, et al. (2021).
- <sup>646</sup> Peterson, et al. (2020).
- 647 Martin, et al. (2016).
- 648 DCruz, et al. (2018).
- 649 Salami, et al. (2019).

<sup>650</sup> Cerel, J., Brown, M. M., Myfanwy, M., Singleton, M., van de Venne, J., Moore, M., & Flaherty, C. (2018). How many people are exposed to suicide? Not six. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 49(2), 529-534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12450</u>



Mental Health Commission de Commission la santé mentale of Canada du Canada

Mental Health Commission of Canada, 2022 Suite 1210, 350 Albert Street Ottawa, ON. K1R 1A4 Tel: 613.683.3755 Fax: 613.798.2989

■ @MHCC\_ f/theMHCC

▶ /1MHCC **O**@theMHCC

in /Mental Health Commission of Canada